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Performance Highlights

Our brands delivered growth in 2016 as we grasped all 
opportunities available to reinforce our position as industry 
leader.  All our brands play a key role in our growth strategy.

Gross Operating 
Revenue (J$billion)

2016/17

13.51 

2015/16

11.98

Trading Profit Margin

2015/16

31.2%

2016/17

36.5%

Net Profit (J$billion)

2016/17

3.81

2015/16

3.01

Stockholders’ Return on 
Equity

2015/16

169.6%

2016/17

178.9%

Earnings per stock unit (¢)

784.08
2016: 620.30

Market Capitalization 
(J$billion)

35.92
2016: 32.11

Share Price ($)

74.00

66.15

2015/16 2016/17

Dividend Paid per stock 
unit ($)

7.10
2016: 8.94
(includes capital distribution 
of $2.54)

Shareholders’ equity to total assets ratio
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50.98%

2016: Equity: 47.86%
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Our Vision & Strategy

  
Growth

British American Tobacco and its subsidiary companies, 
including Carreras, focus on key strategic segments of 
the market that offer the best prospects for long term 
growth, including driving our premium segment. We 
also believe it is important to continue to develop and 
utilise innovative, differentiated products and offer our 
consumers added value from our brands.

  
Productivity

As a member of the British American Tobacco Group, 
our overall approach to productivity is about using our 
global resources to increase profits and generate funds 
for reinvesting in our business.

Our Vision & Mission
Our vision is to achieve and maintain leadership of the 
Jamaican Tobacco Industry in order to create long term 
shareholder value.

Our Strategy 
We hold steadfast to the strategy of our parent 
Company, British American Tobacco, in creating 
shareholder value, delivering profit growth and long 
term business sustainability. The four pillars of this 
strategy are Growth, Productivity, Sustainability and 
developing a Winning Organization.

  
Sustainability

We will continue to balance our commercial objectives 
with the expectations of a broad range of stakeholders, 
thus ensuring a sustainable business.

  
Winning Organization

We are confident in BAT’s strategies for Growth, 
Productivity and Sustainability but to deliver our 
vision we must also have the right people and the 
right working environment. That is the essence of the 
Winning Organization strategy.
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Our Guiding and Business Principles 

Our Guiding Principles
We continue to live the Guiding Principles of British American Tobacco which form the core of our culture 
and guide how we deliver our strategy.

Enterprising Spirit We value enterprise from all 
of our employees, giving us a great breadth of ideas 
and viewpoints to enhance the way we do business. 
We have the confidence to passionately pursue 
growth and new opportunities while accepting the 
considered entrepreneurial risk that comes with it. We 
are bold and strive to overcome challenges. This is the 
cornerstone of our success.

Open Minded Our corporate culture is a great 
strength of the business and one of the reasons we 
have been, and will continue to be, successful. We 
are forward-looking and anticipate consumer needs, 
winning with innovative, high-quality products. We 
listen to, and genuinely consider, other perspectives 
and changing social expectations. We are open to new 
ways of doing things.

Freedom Through Responsibility We give our 
people the freedom to operate, providing them with 
the benefits of our scale but the ability to succeed. 
We always strive to do the right thing, exercising our 
responsibility to society and other stakeholders. We 
use our freedom to take decisions and act in the best 
interest of consumers.

Strength from Diversity We respect and celebrate 
each other’s differences and enjoy working together. 
We harness diversity – of our people, cultures, 
viewpoints, brands, markets and ideas – to strengthen 
our business. We value what makes each of us unique.

Our Business Principles

The Principle of Mutual Benefit
is the basis on which we build our relationships with our stakeholders. We are primarily in business to build long 
term shareholder value and we believe the best way to do this is to seek to understand and take account of the 
needs of all our stakeholders.

The Principle of Responsible Product Stewardship
is the basis on which we meet consumer demand for a legal product that is generally accepted as a cause of serious 
diseases.  Accordingly, our products and brands should be developed, manufactured and marketed in a responsible 
manner.

The Principle of Good Corporate Conduct 
is the basis on which all our businesses should be managed. Business success brings with it an obligation for high 
standards of behaviour and integrity in everything we do and wherever we operate. These standards should not be 
compromised for the sake of results.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Fifty-Fifth Annual General Meeting of the Stockholders of CARRERAS LIMITED 
will be held at the Jamaica Pegasus Hotel, 81 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5 on Wednesday, September 6, 
2017 at 2:00 p.m. for the following purposes:
 
 
1.   To receive the Audited Financial Statements 
      and the Reports of the Auditors and Directors for 
      the year ended March 31, 2017 
     
      To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
      Resolution: 
 
        “THAT the Audited Financial Statements and the 
          Reports of the Auditors and Directors for the 
          year ended March 31, 2017 be and are hereby 
          adopted.” 
 
2.   To appoint Auditors and authorise the Directors 
      to fix the remuneration of the Auditors 
 
      To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
      Resolution: 
 
        “THAT KPMG, Chartered Accountants, having 
          agreed to continue in office as Auditors, be and 
          are hereby appointed Auditors of the Company to 
          hold office until the next Annual General Meeting 
          at a remuneration to be fixed by the Directors of    
          the Company.”  
 
3.   To elect Directors   
 
      (a)  The Directors due to retire in accordance with  
             the provisions of Article 84 of the Articles of  
             Association are Mr. Oliver Holmes and  
             Mrs. Janene Shaw and, being eligible, offer 

themselves for re-election.  
 
            To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following  
             Resolutions: 
 
            (i) “THAT Mr. Oliver Holmes be and is hereby 
                  re-elected a Director of the Company.” 
              
            (ii) “THAT Mrs. Janene Shaw be and is 
                  hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.” 
  
       (b)  Mrs. Brenda Wilbert, Mrs. Maria Gabriela Rincon 
             and Mr. Jorge Cabrera were appointed as  
             Directors since the last Annual General Meeting  
             of the Company and, being eligible, offer  
             themselves for election. 
               
            To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following  
             Resolutions: 
 
              (i)  “THAT Mrs. Brenda Wilbert be and is hereby 
                     elected a Director of the Company.” 
 
              (ii) “THAT Mrs. Maria Gabriela Rincon be and is  
                     hereby elected a Director of the Company.” 
 
              (iii) “THAT Mr. Jorge Cabrera be and is hereby 
                      elected a Director of the Company.” 
 

                      
        4.   To confirm the remuneration of the  
              Non-Executive Directors 
  
               To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
               Resolution: 
        
                 “THAT the amount shown in the Financial 
                  Statements of the Company for the year ended 
                  March 31, 2017 for emoluments received by the 
                  Non-Executive Directors for their services as 
                  Directors be and is hereby approved.”   
 
         5.   To approve and ratify dividends 
                 
                To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
                Resolution: 
                    
                 “THAT the interim dividends of $1.70 paid on   
                  June 28, 2016; $1.50 paid on August 30, 2016;   
                  $1.70 paid on Dec. 14, 2016 and  $2.20 paid  on  
                  March 15, 2017, making a total of $7.10 for the  
                  Year, be and are hereby ratified.” 
                 
        6.    To consider any other business which may 
               properly be transacted at an Annual General 
               Meeting. 
 
       By Order of the Board 
 
       Janene Shaw 
       Company Secretary 
 
       Registered Office: 13A Ripon Road, Kingston 5 
        
       May 25, 2017 
 
       Important Notice for Members who are 
       not able to attend:   
 
        Any member of the Company entitled to attend and 
        vote at this meeting is also entitled to appoint one or  
        more proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead.   
        Such proxies need not be members of the Company. 
        A suitable Form of Proxy is enclosed.        
  
        Form of Proxy must be lodged with the Registrar 
        and Transfer Office, Sagicor Bank Corporate Trust 
        Service Unit, 28 – 48 Barbados Avenue, Kingston 5 
        not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time  
        appointed for holding the meeting. 
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Corporate Data

Location

CARRERAS LIMITED
13A Ripon Road
Kingston 5

Telephone:  749 9800
Fax: 906 9284

E-Mail: Carreras@bat.com
Website: www.carrerasltd.com

  

Depots

35½ Hagley Park Road, Kingston 10

6 Allan Avenue, Port Antonio, Portland

1-2 Villa Road, Mandeville, Manchester

74 Main Street, Ocho Rios, St Ann

26 Humber Avenue, Montego Bay, St James

  

COMPANY SECRETARY: Janene Shaw

REGISTERED OFFICE: 13A Ripon Road 
Kingston 5

AUDITORS: KPMG 
6 Duke Street 
Kingston

BANKERS: The Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited 
Scotiabank Centre 
Cnr. of Duke & Port Royal Streets 
Kingston

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE: Sagicor Bank Corporate Trust Service Unit, 
28 – 48 Barbados Avenue, Kingston 5

  

Management Team

NAME DESIGNATION

Marcus Steele Managing Director

Janene Shaw Finance Director

Ashleigh Arnold Legal and External Affairs Manager

Monique Blake Human Resource Business Partner

Heather Bulgin Williams Trade Marketing & Distribution Manager

Camille Robinson Marketing Deployment Manager

  

Board of Directors

Oliver Holmes - Chairman
Michael Bernard
Jorge Cabrera
Matthew Hogarth
Andrew Long
Maria Gabriela Rincon
Janene Shaw
Marcus Steele
Brenda Wilbert
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Chairman’s Report 
to Stockholders

Shareholders, I am very pleased 
to report another year of strong 
performance by your Company 
despite a lack-luster world-wide 
economic climate, and greater 
challenges within the Jamaican 
landscape, including further 
increase in tobacco excise, a 
growing illicit trade and new 
competition. However, the inherent 
strength of your Company, its 
balanced portfolio of brands, 
intelligent responses to challenges 
and commitment to innovation 
have led to sustainable results 
for shareholders. Accordingly, 
shareholder value increased this 
year, with shareholders’ return on 
equity increasing from 169.6% to 
178.9%. Your Company distributed 
$3.44 billion to shareholders, 
representing a dividend of $7.10 
per stock unit. We are pleased to 
report that overall, compared to the 
previous year, dividends increased 
by 10.9%. We are indeed committed 
to delivering superior shareholder 
value and this continues to be 
recognized with our seven-time win 
of the Best Performing Company 
Award from the Jamaica Stock 
Exchange. 

Within the current economic 
climate, management’s focus on 
containing cost and optimizing the 
organization is more important 
than ever. We commend the 
Carreras Management Team on 
the Company’s restructuring 
with a new “fit for purpose” 
model, which has been creating 
the right conditions to leverage 
our position as industry leaders 
and heighten the engagement of 
employees. The leadership of your 
Company is to be commended on 
the seamless integration of the 
full bike sales team into this new 
Route to Market (RTM) structure, 
significantly boosting the efficiency 
and effectiveness of our trade, 
marketing & distribution activities. 
The full effects of this pivotal 

“….the inherent strength 
of your Company, its 
balanced portfolio of 

brands, intelligent 
responses to challenges 

and commitment to 
innovation have led to 
sustainable results for 

shareholders.”
Oliver Holmes

Chairman
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initiative will become even more 
obvious in the medium to long-
term. We are very heartened that 
this change in our business model 
has contributed to a decrease of 
11.2% in administrative, distribution 
and marketing costs, a particularly 
impressive achievement considering 
the 4% inflation rate experienced 
over the reporting year. Overall, the 
organization is developing a more 
integrated, cross-functional and 
efficient approach to business. 

With the Government raising the 
Special Consumption Tax (SCT) 
on cigarettes, we have observed 
a proliferation of illicit cigarettes 
which continue to threaten 
our volume base, revenues and 
the revenues we deliver the 
Government. While we continue to 
commend the Government on their 
efforts to stem this illicit trade, I 
would like to appeal to them to do 
more. An increase in the SCT has 
the unintended effect of increasing 
illicit trade and therefore decreasing 
the Government’s revenues. In this 
regard, we continue to state our 
desire and commitment to engage 
and consult with the Government on 
matters such as tobacco taxation, as 
well as new regulations and policies, 
that if introduced in an unbalanced 
form and without consultation with 
the industry, can have negative 
unintended consequences such as 
fueling the illicit trade. 

We therefore continue to stand 
ready to work with the Government 
toward creating sustainable policies 
on taxation and the illicit trade, 
as well as enforceable tobacco 
control regulations designed to 
protect Government’s revenues and 
protect the rights of smokers and 
non-smokers alike, that, when taken 
together will redound to the benefit 
of Jamaica. 

Carreras continues to be a 
responsible tobacco company, 
aiding in the social and economic 
development of our nation. With 
our annual awarding of over 
40 scholarships, recruitment 
of those who are economically 
disenfranchised and our 
commitments to a variety of 
programs that enhance civic life, 
we are a bona fide contributor to 
Jamaica’s growth and development.

Shareholders, you may be aware 
of some of the changes to the 
Board this year. We welcomed Mrs. 
Brenda Wilbert on November 9, 
2016 as well as Mrs. Maria Gabriela 
Rincon and Mr. Jorge Cabrera on 
May 25, 2017. Brenda Wilbert is the 
current HR Director for BATCCA, 
Gabriela Rincon is the current 
Finance Director for BATCCA and 
Jorge Cabrera is the current Legal 
and External Affairs Director for 
BATCCA. We are confident in 
their ability to add value to the 
organization and look forward to 
their contribution. We also bade 
farewell to Mr. Alan Bergin, who 
chose to pursue his career outside 
of BAT, and Mr. Eduardo Castaneda 
who was assigned to a new role 
within the BAT Group. We thank 
them for their fine service to 
Carreras and wish them well in all 
their future endeavors.

As mentioned previously, the 
impressive work of the management 
team must be acknowledged.  The 
team has worked with vigor to 
ensure the Company’s concerns and 
positions regarding excise, the illicit 
trade and regulations are heard. At 
the same time, they have worked 
tirelessly to ensure the Company’s 
brands continue to enjoy consumer 
confidence.  In particular, I must 
commend Mr. Marcus Steele’s 

impressive leadership and certainly, 
the leadership and guidance 
provided by my fellow Directors. 

I also wish to thank those persons 
who are integral to our success and 
remain the core of our business 
– the entire staff of Carreras, our 
consumers and trade partners. 

Our brands are strong and our 
consumers loyal. The ever-changing 
regulatory environment in tandem 
with a rapidly evolving Jamaican 
market and tobacco industry 
requires us to be agile, responsible 
and innovative, and we are fit for 
the challenge. We continuously 
sharpen our execution of ideas and 
leverage the immense strength of 
our brands. We continue to listen to 
our customers, trade partners and 
stakeholders to better improve our 
products, customer service and our 
overall contribution to society. 

Carreras remains and will continue 
to be a company that delivers 
superior products and therefore 
superior returns to our valued 
shareholders. 

Oliver Holmes

Chairman

Mrs. Janene Shaw, Finance Director, Carreras (left) accepts the Jamaica Stock Exchange’s 
Best Performing Company Award for 2015 from Ms. Audrey Richards, Best Practices 
Committee Member.
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Board of Directors

Maria Gabriela Rincon

Marcus Steele

Jorge Cabrera

Michael Bernard

Oliver Holmes

Mr. Oliver Holmes was appointed Chairman of the Board of Directors of Carreras Limited on November 12, 2015. 
Prior to that he served as a Director since February 6, 2007. He is Managing Director of Capital Options, a financial 
advisory firm he founded in 1997. Prior to establishing Capital Options, Mr. Holmes was the Chief Operating Officer 
of Manufacturers Merchant Bank Ltd. and prior to that Vice President of Citibank N. A.

He served as a senior manager in virtually all aspects of Citibank and its subsidiaries operations in Jamaica, including 
Vice President - Corporate Finance, Financial Controller - Citibank Jamaica and its subsidiaries, Corporate Banking 
Group Head, Managing Director - Citifinance Limited, Manager - Centralized Operations and Chief Inspector for 
the Caribbean region. During his career at Citibank, he led or participated in many notable transactions in the 
Jamaican and international markets, and, at Capital Options, has continued to close notable transactions in the 
areas of capital raising, mergers & acquisitions and financial advisory in the Jamaican and Caribbean Markets.

In addition to Carreras Limited, Mr. Holmes sits on the Board of Allied Insurance Brokers Limited, where he is 
Chairman. He graduated from the University of the West Indies with a B.Sc. degree in Management Studies (Hons.) 
and a M.Sc. degree in Accounting.

Mr. Holmes’ hobbies are cricket, golf, squash, running and reading.
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Oliver Holmes

Janene Shaw

Andrew Long

Brenda Wilbert

Matthew Hogarth

Marcus Steele

Mr. Marcus Steele is the Managing Director of Carreras Limited. He was appointed to the Board of Directors on April 
1, 2013. Mr. Steele is a graduate of St. Jago High School and is a qualified Chartered Accountant and has a Bachelor of 
Science degree in Accounting from the University of the West Indies and a Master of Business Administration from 
Florida International University. He also completed an Executive Programme in General Management at the Harvard 
Business School. 

Mr. Steele first joined Carreras Group Limited in the Company’s Tobacco division, Cigarette Company of Jamaica 
Limited, in the capacity of the Company’s Management Accountant in April 1998. In June 1999, he was promoted 
to Finance Planning Manager and later appointed Marketing Finance Manager in June 2001. In May 2002, Mr. Steele 
was appointed Finance Planning Manager for Cigarette Company of Jamaica Limited with overall responsibility for 
management of Marketing and Operations Finance. In March 2004, Mr. Steele was seconded to British American 
Tobacco Caribbean and Central America’s Area Office in Costa Rica as the Country Readiness Manager for the 
Caribbean with the responsibility for leading the migration of the Caribbean legal entities into the regional shared 
service centre. In July 2005, he was appointed Finance Planning and Reporting Manager for BAT’s operations in 
the Caribbean and Central America where he focused on financial reporting, strategy and planning. Mr. Marcus 
Steele was then appointed to the Board of Directors of Carreras Limited on October 1, 2007 and served as Finance 
Director and Company Secretary up until August 2011 when he was seconded to the Trinidad branch of another BAT 
Company, Carisma Marketing Services Limited, in the position of Country Manager with responsibility for the general 
management of the Company’s businesses across 24 markets in the English, French and Dutch Caribbean. 

Mr. Steele serves as a Director on the Board of Proven Wealth Limited and Peak Bottling Limited. He enjoys reading, 
dancing, cricket, football and athletics and has two children, son, Marquis and daughter, Sonique.
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Michael Bernard
Mr. Michael Bernard first joined Carreras Group 
Limited in 1988 and in 1991 he was appointed General 
Manager of the Jamaica Biscuit Company. In 1995 he 
assumed concurrently, the positions of Managing 
Director of two subsidiaries; the Cigarette Company 
of Jamaica Limited and Agricultural Products of 
Jamaica Limited. In 1997, he was appointed to the 
Board of Directors of Carreras Limited until 2000 
when he was seconded to the USA subsidiary of 
British American Tobacco, Brown and Williamson 
Tobacco Corporation. He regained leadership of the 
Cigarette Company of Jamaica Limited at the end of 
2001 and was re-appointed to the Board of Carreras 
Group Limited in 2004. 

In 2005, Michael was appointed Managing Director 
of Carreras Limited, the role he held until retirement 
in 2010. Michael currently serves as Executive 
Chairman of Peak Bottling Company Limited and 
Chairman of Spike Industries Limited. He also 
serves on the Board of Directors of Salada Foods 
Limited, GK General Insurance Company Limited, 
New Transport Group Limited, Sterling Investments 
Limited and Hardware & Lumber Limited. He is a 
graduate of Jamaica College where he serves as 
Chairman of the Board of Management. 

He holds a Bachelor of Arts and Bachelor of 
Science summa cum laude degrees in Business 
Administration and Forest Management respectively, 
from Washington State University, and a Master of 
Business Administration from the Harvard Graduate 
School of Business Administration. Michael is the 
2010 recipient of the Carlton Alexander Award for 
Excellence and is also a Fellow of the Jamaica Institute 
of Management. 

He is a philanthropist, a former national youth cricket 
representative, a significant owner and breeder of 
thoroughbred horses and is the 2012 Leading Owner 
of Thoroughbred Horses in Jamaica.

Matthew Hogarth
Mr. Matthew Hogarth was appointed to the Board 
of Directors of Carreras Limited on February 4, 2016. 
He is currently the Managing Partner at MH&CO., 
Attorneys-at-Law, a corporate law firm specializing 
in banking and finance, mergers and acquisitions, 
corporate governance, taxation and real estate. 

Over his years in practice, Mr. Hogarth has managed 
numerous corporate bank loan transactions for 
numerous international blue chip companies, 
private equity and debt transactions, mergers and 
acquisitions, Initial Public Offerings (IPOs), private 
business and legal audits and has acted in numerous 
cross-border matters including the management and 
strategy of insolvency and receivership assignments, 
including advising the Liquidator or Receiver on 
legal issues. He also has considerable experience 
with both residential and commercial real estate 
transactions, including real estate investment vehicles 
and structures. Mr. Hogarth has a reputation for 
being solution-oriented, detailed, thorough and 
for his proficiency at creating practical corporate 

structures that marry business and the law. He 
received his LL.B (with Honours) from the University 
of Liverpool. Mr. Hogarth has been called to the bar 
in multiple jurisdictions including Jamaica, New York 
State, The British Virgin Islands and Saint Lucia. He 
is a member of the American Bar Association, the 
Jamaican Bar Association, the BVI Bar Association, 
INSOL International (International Association of 
Restructuring, Insolvency & Bankruptcy Professionals) 
and the American Bankruptcy Institute. He is also the 
legal member of the Private Sector Organization of 
Jamaica’s Listed Company’s Committee.

Mr. Hogarth currently sits on the Board of Directors 
of IronRock Insurance Company Limited and Heave-
Ho Properties Limited (Century-21). He enjoys the 
culinary arts, traveling and golf and is married to Lisa 
Hogarth.

Janene Shaw

Mrs. Janene Shaw joined Carreras Limited as Finance 
Director and Company Secretary and was appointed 
to the Board of Directors on May 27, 2015.  She is a 
qualified Chartered Accountant with a Bachelor of 
Science degree in Accounting from the University 
of the West Indies, Mona. She has over 25 years’ 
experience and a proven track record in financial 
management, accounting and auditing.  Janene is 
responsible for the Strategic Financial Management 
of the Company and also performs the role of 
Company Secretary.  

Prior to joining Carreras, Janene was employed at J. 
Wray & Nephew Limited / Lascelles deMercado & 
Co. Limited where she held various senior finance 
positions being General Manager, Finance & 
Administration – JWN Agricultural Division, Group 
Financial Officer and Accounting and Treasury 
Director. Prior to that, Janene was employed 
at PriceWaterhouseCoopers where she gained 
progressive audit experience to the level of Audit 
Manager. 

Janene is a Member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Jamaica and the Association of 
Certified Chartered Accountants in the U.K. 

Janene enjoys athletics, cricket, spending time with 
family and has an interest in the different cultures of 
the world. Janene is married to Ewan and they have 
two daughters, Kristen and Justine.

Andrew Long
Mr. Andrew Long was appointed to the Board of 
Directors of Carreras Limited on November 12, 
2015. He is currently the Area Director for British 
American Tobacco Caribbean and Central America 
(BATCCA).

Andrew joined British American Tobacco Souza 
Cruz Brazil in 1991 as a mid–career Marketing 
Executive. Over his more than 20 year international 
career, he has held several senior roles in marketing, 
as well as general management within BAT’s 
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operations across several countries including Brazil, 
Kuwait, The United States, The United Kingdom, 
Hungary, Russia, Vietnam, Turkey and Senegal. 

Andrew holds an Honours Degree in Business 
Studies.

Jorge Cabrera
Mr. Jorge Cabrera was appointed to the Board of 
Directors of Carreras Limited on May 25, 2017.

He is currently the Legal and External Affairs 
(LEX) Director for British American Tobacco 
Caribbean and Central America (BATCCA). Jorge 
first joined the BAT group in 2011 as LEX Director 
for BAT Colombia, having responsibility for the 
Company’s public affairs and regulatory strategy, 
inclusive of managing strategic relationships with 
key stakeholders on a government, legislative, 
departmental, City Council and diplomatic level. 
He was also responsible for the Company’s Anti-
Illicit Trade strategy which included managing the 
Company’s interaction with the military and police 
force. 

Prior to joining BAT, Jorge worked in the Insurance 
business for 15 years both in Colombia and in 
Canada in various roles which entailed facilitating 
national and international research in insurance 
fraud and representing the Colombian Insurance 
Fraud Bureau to national, regional and local 
authorities, including the military and police force. 
He has also lead legislative strategies for the 
insurance industry on crime and risk related issues.

Jorge holds a Master of Laws degree from the 
University of Alberta, Canada. He is an international 
speaker on topics related to Risk Management, 
Insurance Crime and the legal approach to legal 
fraud, and has made presentations in several 
countries across the world including the United 
States, England, Canada and Honduras. He is 
the author of many publications in his country, 
Colombia. 

Jorge enjoys reading, spending time with his 
children and travelling.

Maria Gabriela Rincon
Mrs. Gabriela Rincon was appointed to the Board 
of Carreras Limited on May 25, 2017. She is a 
qualified professional business manager with a 
proven track record in positioning finance as a 
value adding business partner. Gabriela has over 
16 years´ experience in financial and commercial 
roles internationally within the British American 
Tobacco (BAT) group, her most recent being 
Finance Controller Director at BAT Canada, where 
she was responsible for Statutory Accounting, 
Treasury and Financial Planning. She also served as a 
member of BAT Canada Extended Leadership team 
being a key driver in business strategic agenda, 
delivering outstanding and increased profits while 

going through massive business transformation 
(PBIT £400millions). Before assuming this position, 
she held other senior posts within the BAT Group 
including: Global Commercial Finance Business 
Partner for Global Trade Marketing & Distribution, 
Global Customer Investments Manager, both roles at 
British American Tobacco plc, Head of Commercial 
Finance for Venezuela , Colombia & Ecuador cluster, 
Marketing Finance Manager Venezuela, Audit 
Manager for Venezuela & Colombia, and Supply 
Chain - Procurement Manager, Operations Finance 
and HR Finance in Venezuela. 

In March 2017, Gabriela was appointed to the role 
of Finance Director for British American Tobacco 
Caribbean and Central America (BATCCA). 

Gabriela holds a bachelor of Business Administration 
with two majors in General Management and Banking 
& Finances, and a Masters degree in Management 
from IESA Business School. She was born and raised in 
Venezuela, is married to Juan and has a son, Benjamin. 
In her free time, she enjoys spending quality time 
with her family, travelling and if there is time left, 
dancing and movies. 

Brenda Wilbert
Mrs. Brenda Wilbert was appointed to the Board of 
Carreras Limited on November 9, 2016. 

Brenda is currently the Human Resources (HR) 
Director for British American Tobacco Caribbean and 
Central America (BATCCA). 

She joined the BAT Group in 2000 and two years 
later, she moved cross-functionally to Human 
Resources where she has since had extensive 
experience in areas such as Talent Acquisition, 
Leadership Development, Employee Relations and 
Union Negotiations. In 2008, she was transferred 
to BAT Americas as Regional Leadership and 
Development Manager for Canada and Latin America.

In 2010, Brenda was promoted to the position of 
Head of Talent for the Americas Region. Before 
moving to London, she had a short-term assignment 
in Canada where she gained valuable on-the ground 
understanding of the business and was able to later 
shape and drive a commercially focused Strategic 
Talent Agenda for the Region.

In 2014, Brenda was appointed Senior HR Business 
Partner for Marketing, Trade Marketing and 
Corporate Services in Brazil, where she was also 
responsible for the HR Strategy of the joint venture 
in Cuba.

Brenda is a Brazilian national and is married to Marcio 
and has a son, Antonio. She likes travelling, cooking 
and spending time with her family.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors are pleased to submit their Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 
March 31, 2017. The following are selected highlights:

Financial Results 
Year ended

March 31, 2017
$000s

Year ended
 March 31, 2016

$000s

Profit before income taxation amounted to: 5,009,889       3,903,562

Income tax for the year (1,203,567)     (892,229)  

Total profit after tax 3,806,322   3,011,333

Less: minority interest       (89) (142)

Net profit for the year attributable to stockholders 3,806,233 3,011,191                      

Revenue reserves at beginning of year 1,631,980 3,028,074

Total revenue reserves 5,438,213 6,039,265

Appropriations have been made as follows:

Dividends and Distributions (3,446,624) (4,342,104)

Deferred tax on reserves of subsidiaries in liquidation      (1,531) 36,354

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains/losses, net of tax (5,625)     (64,950)

Transfer tax -        (38,856)

Transfers        22,322 -

Distribution to non-controlling interests    -          2,271

2,006,755            1,631,980

Earnings per stock unit for year: 784.08¢ 620.30¢

Dividends and Distributions
The following payments were made during the year:

First quarter ended June 30, 2016 -  $1.70 per stock unit (Ordinary)

Second quarter ended September 30, 2016 -  $1.50 per stock unit (Ordinary)

Third quarter ended December 31, 2016 -  $1.70 per stock unit (Ordinary)

Fourth quarter ended March 31, 2017 -  $2.20 per stock unit (Ordinary)

No further final dividend payment is proposed in respect of 2016/2017. 

The Directors have approved an interim dividend of $2.10 per stock unit, to be 
paid on June 28, 2017.

Auditors
KPMG have expressed their willingness to continue in office and offer 
themselves for re-appointment.

Directors
Mr. Alan Bergin resigned on November 1, 2016. The Board wishes to express 
its appreciation to him for the expertise and experience that he shared with 
the Company. Mr. Eduardo Castañeda resigned on April 1, 2017 to assume a 
new role within British American Tobacco Group of Companies and the Board 
wishes to express its appreciation to him for his invaluable contribution to the 
Company.

Mrs. Brenda Wilbert was appointed 
on November 9, 2016 and, being 
eligible, offers herself for election.

Mrs. Maria Gabriela Rincon and Mr. 
Jorge Cabrera were appointed on 
May 25, 2017 and, being eligible, 
offer themselves for election.

The Directors due to retire in 
accordance with the provisions of 
the Articles of Association are Mr. 
Oliver Holmes and Mrs. Janene Shaw 
and being eligible, offer themselves 
for re-election.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Janene Shaw (Secretary)
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Ten Largest Stockholders as at March 31, 2017

Stock units held

Rothmans Holdings (Caricom) Limited 244,650,826

Sagicor PIF Equity Fund 27,948,465

National Insurance Fund 19,716,721

SJIML A/C 3119 12,479,436

L.B.J. Overseas Limited 10,193,750

Millville Opportunities Master Fund LP 7,587,248

ATL Group Pension Fund Trustee Nominee 6,272,674

GraceKennedy Ltd Pension Scheme 6,053,007

Krohne Fund LP 5,105,526

JCSD Trustee Services Ltd - SIGMA OPTIMA 4,999,639

345,007,292

Directors’ stockholding as at March 31, 2017

Stock Units Held

Mr.   Michael Bernard Nil

Mr.   Eduardo Castañeda Nil

Mr.   Matthew Hogarth Nil 

Mr.   Oliver Holmes Nil

Mr.   Andrew Long Nil 

Mrs. Janene Shaw Nil

Mr.   Marcus Steele Nil

Mrs. Brenda Wilbert Nil

There has been no change in the Directors’ stockholding interests occurring between the end of the 
Company’s financial year and the date of the Notice convening the Annual General Meeting.

At no time during or at the end of the financial year has any Director had any material interest in any 
contract or arrangement in relation to the business of the Company.

Executive & Senior Management:

Mr.   Marcus Steele Nil

Mrs. Janene Shaw Nil

Mrs. Ashleigh Arnold Nil

Miss Monique Blake Nil

Mrs. Heather Bulgin Williams Nil

Miss Camille Robinson 2,047
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Corporate Governance

Board Mission
The Board of Directors is collectively responsible for the success of the Company.

The Board remains committed to providing entrepreneurial leadership of Carreras within a framework of 
prudent and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed. The Board is responsible 
for overseeing the Company’s strategic aims; ensuring that the necessary financial and human resources 
are in place for the Company to meet its objectives; and reviewing management performance. The Board 
also upholds the Company’s values and standards and ensures that its obligations to the Company’s 
shareholders and others are understood and met.

In recognition of the increasing importance and 
relevance of corporate governance and adherence to 
corporate governance best practices for companies 
both locally and internationally, the Board formally 
established a Corporate Governance Committee on 
February 2, 2017 to provide a focused and structured 
approach to corporate governance and to align with 
international best practices.   

Responsibilities of Board members 
(Chairman, non-executive members, 
Company Secretary)
There is a clear division of responsibilities at the head 
of the Company between the running of the Board 
and the executive responsibility for the running of the 
Company’s business.  No one individual has unfettered 
powers of decision.

Chairman
The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the Board, 
ensuring its effectiveness on all aspects of its role and 
setting its agenda. The Chairman is also responsible 
for ensuring that the directors receive accurate, 
timely and clear information. He also ensures effective 
communication with Shareholders.

Non-Executive Directors
As part of their role as members of a unitary Board, non-
executive directors constructively challenge and help 
develop proposals on strategy. Non-executive directors 
also scrutinise the performance of management in 
meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the 
reporting of performance. They ensure the integrity 
of financial information and that financial controls and 
systems of risk management are robust and defensible. 

Directors can obtain independent professional advice 
in the course of their duties, if necessary, at the 
Company’s expense.

Company Secretary
The Company Secretary plays a key role in assisting 
all directors to obtain the information they need to 
carry out their roles effectively.  She is responsible 
for ensuring that Board processes and procedures are 
appropriately followed and that they support effective 
decision making and governance in accordance with the 
Companies Act.

Appointments to the Board
There is a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure 
for the appointment of new directors to the Board.

Appointments to the Board are made on merit and 
against objective criteria. Care is also taken to ensure 
that appointees have enough time available to devote 
to the job. This is particularly important in the case of 
chairmanship. The Board also satisfies itself that plans 
are in place for orderly succession for appointments to 
the Board and to senior management, so as to maintain 
an appropriate balance of skills and experience within 
the Company and on the Board.

Election and Re-election
All directors are submitted for re-election at 
regular intervals, subject to continued satisfactory 
performance. The Board ensures planned and 
progressive refreshing of the Board.
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Independence of Directors
Independence is based on criteria agreed by the Board 
and includes:

 Ј a  Director that has not within the last three years 
been an employee of the Company or a related 
Company;

 Ј a  Director that has not within the last three years 
had a material business relationship with the 
Company either directly or as a shareholder, director 
or senior employee of a body that has a relationship 
with the Company either as a supplier, a customer or 
competitor of the Company;

 Ј a  Director that has not within the last three years 
received additional remuneration from the Company 
(apart from a director’s compensation) nor 
participated in the Company’s performance-related 
pay scheme;

 Ј a  Director whose spouse, child(ren) or dependent(s) 
are not advisors, directors or senior employees of 
the Company;

 Ј A Director who does not represent a significant 
shareholder.

The Board is not aware of any relationships or 
circumstances affecting the Directors’ independent 
judgement.

Board Committees
Committee Chairmen
The chairmen of the committees of the Board are 
responsible for the leadership of the respective Board 
committees and that each respective Board committee 
executes on their respective charters and mandates, 
as approved by the Board.  The chairmen of the 
committees of the Board are also responsible for: 

a. fixing the agenda for the relevant Board committee 
meetings and to ensure that all relevant matters 
are tabled for consideration (as requested by the 
members of that committee, the wider Board, or 
otherwise);

b. reporting to the Board at each Board meeting; and

c. reporting to the shareholders.

Corporate Governance Committee 

Matthew Hogarth
Chairman, 
Corporate Governance Committee 

In light of the date of the establishment of the 
Committee (February 2, 2017), the Committee 
did not meet during the 2016/2017 fiscal year.  
However, as at the date of this Annual Report, 
the Committee has already convened three (3) 
meetings and conducted a workshop for the Board 
of Directors in order to quickly build out the 
framework of the Committee and commence its 
work.
At the Board of Directors Meeting held on May 25th, 
2017, the Board approved the Company’s Corporate 
Governance Charter put forward by the Committee.  
In broad terms, the Committee’s charge is to support 
the Board in the administration and exercise of the 
Board’s management of the Company by developing 
the Company’s Corporate Governance Principles and 
ensuring its adherence to same and the evaluation of 
the Board and its Committees with specific reference to 
their structure, composition and function.

In addition to drafting the Corporate Governance 
Charter for approval by the Board, the Committee has 
undertaken the following work:

a. A review of the Memorandum and Articles of 
Association which prompted a proposal that the 
Company should put it to the shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting that the Company adopt 
new Articles of Incorporation in order to ensure that 
the Company’s Articles are consistent with current 
corporate governance practices and policies and to 
ensure ongoing compliance with applicable law and 
regulations.

b. The establishment of a self-audit checklist for 
the Committee to guide the process relating to 
corporate governance to enable the Company to be 
one of the leaders in the market insofar as corporate 
governance is concerned.

c. Review of the Jamaica Stock Exchange’s Corporate 
Governance Index rating program in order to 
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance 
policies and procedures are apace with current 
best practices and also in order to ensure that 
the Company maintains its position as a leader in 
corporate best practices.
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During the 2017/2018 fiscal year, the Committee shall 
continue the build-out of its framework in order to 
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance 
practices are best in class.  This will enhance the 
performance of the Board, including its fiduciary duties 
to the Company and its shareholders, thereby adding 
value.

Corporate Governance Charter
Preamble
The Corporate Governance Committee of Carreras 
Limited has the responsibility of assisting the Board of 
Directors of Carreras Limited (“the Board”) in ensuring 
that its composition, structure, policies and processes 
for managing the Company are in keeping with world 
corporate governance best practice standards and 
adhere to the relevant legal and regulatory framework. 
The basic guidelines set out herein were mainly 
extracted from the Combined Code on Corporate 
Governance issued by the Financial Reporting Council 
of the United Kingdom, compiled by the Corporate 
Governance Committee of the Private Sector 
Organisation of Jamaica and the Corporate Governance 
and Regulations guidelines issued by the Jamaica Stock 
Exchange.

Membership
The membership of the Corporate Governance 
Committee (“the Committee”) shall comprise at least 
three (3) members of the Board, the majority of whom 
must be independent non-executive directors chosen 
for their competence and understanding of issues 
related to corporate governance. The members and the 
Chair of the Committee shall be appointed and removed 
by the Board in its sole discretion and shall serve until 
their resignation or removal.

Meetings
Frequency

 Ј The Committee shall meet at least twice annually, or 
more frequently as the members deem fit.

Secretary
 Ј In carrying out its activities the Committee shall be 

supported by a secretary who may be the Corporate 
Secretary of the Company or a competent person 
nominated by him or her.

Notice
 Ј Any member of the Committee may, and the 

Secretary of the Committee on requisition of any 
member of the Committee shall, call a meeting of 
the Committee. 

 Ј Notice shall be given to each member of the 
Committee setting out the venue, time and date 
of each meeting as well as the requisite agenda of 
items to be considered at the meeting. 

 Ј Where there exists supporting documentation 
relevant to any agenda item for a meeting, same 
shall be furnished to each member of the Committee 

no less than five (5) business days before the date 
of the meeting.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Committee Members may agree to a shorter time 
period with respect to them being furnished with 
supporting documentation to any agenda item for a 
meeting.

Quorum
 Ј The quorum for a meeting is two (2) members.

Minutes
 Ј The Committee shall keep minutes of each meeting 

which shall be signed by the Chair of the Committee. 

 Ј Each member of the Committee shall receive a copy 
of the meeting minutes of the previous meeting 
before the next meeting of the Committee. 

Reporting Obligations
 Ј The Chair of the Committee shall report the 

minutes of each meeting of the Committee to the 
Board on a regular basis and, in particular, shall 
highlight any key actions taken by the Committee 
or recommendations being made to the Board with 
respect to the Board’s mandate. 

 Ј Members of the Board shall have access to all records 
of the Committee.

Authority & Responsibilities
The Committee shall support the Board in the 
administration and exercise of the Board’s management 
of the Company by carrying out the following:

Corporate Governance Principles
 Ј Developing, recommending and reviewing corporate 

governance principles applicable to the Board.

 Ј Ensuring that the Board and is committees are 
in compliance with all regulatory composition 
requirements, which shall include requirements for 
director independence.

 Ј Reviewing, no less than once annually, the adequacy 
of the charters of the Board and its various 
subcommittees, including the adequacy of this 
Charter, and submit to the Board any suitable 
recommendations in relation to the amendment of 
same.

 Ј Reviewing, no less than once annually, the 
Company’s Articles of Incorporation and overall 
corporate governance policy and practices and 
submit to the Board any suitable recommendations 
in relation to the amendment of same.

 Ј Preparing the annual Corporate Governance 
Statement for inclusion in the Company’s Annual 
Report to its shareholders.

 Ј Ensuring that there is accurate, timely and full 
financial governance reporting with strong internal 
controls and risk management.

 Ј Ensuring that material information regarding the 
Company’s operations are disclosed in a timely 
manner to the public and regulatory entities.
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 Ј Keeping abreast of the latest regulatory 
requirements, trends and guidance in corporate 
governance and updating the Board on corporate 
governance issues, where necessary.

Evaluation of Board & its Committees – Structure, 
Composition and Function 

 Ј Ensuring that the Board is structured and selected to 
ensure effectiveness, independence and protection 
of the public’s interests through appropriate 
selection and operating processes.

 Ј Establishing and facilitating an effective process 
for the annual evaluation of the Board and its 
committees, which shall include the development of  
self-audit checklists which take into account their 
respective mandates and the level of contribution of 
individual directors. The Committee shall report to 
the Board the results of its annual evaluations and, 
based on those results, may make recommendations 
in respect of the structure and effectiveness of the 
Board and any of its committees.

 Ј Overseeing the development and implementation 
of a Board induction process for new directors and a 
programme of continuing director development and 
training, as needed.

 Ј Considering possible conflicts of interests of 
directors and making relevant proposals to the Board 
in relation to its findings.

 Ј Reviewing any change in status and professional 
affiliation of current directors, which shall include 
fulfilment of independence requirements, and 
making relevant proposals to the Board in relation to 
its findings.

Meetings of the Corporate Governance Committee

The Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, 
in consultation with the Company Secretary decide the 
frequency and timing of its meetings. 

No meetings were held over the period given that this 
committee was only established approximately one 
(1) month before the end of the fiscal year.  However, 
meetings are to be held during the year to coincide with 
the cycle of the Board meetings.  

Relationship with the Board and other Committees

The role of the Corporate Governance Committee and 
its relationship with the Board and other committees is 
as set out in the Charter approved by the Board and to 
the extent that the Corporate Governance Committee 
undertakes tasks on behalf of the Board, the results 
are reported to, and considered by, the Board. The 
Corporate Governance Committee is charged with a 
review of the Board, its committees and their respective 
functions on an annual basis and to ensure that they 
execute their responsibilities efficiently and with 
transparency and accountability.

The Committee members are: Matthew Hogarth 
(Chairman), Oliver Holmes and Jorge Cabrera. Marcus 
Steele (Managing Director) and Janene Shaw (Finance 
Director) are permanent invitees.

Audit Committee

Michael Bernard
Chairman, 
Audit Committee 

The Board has established formal and transparent 
arrangements for considering how they should 
apply the financial reporting and internal control 
principles and for maintaining an appropriate 
relationship with the Company’s auditors.

The main role and responsibilities of the Audit 
Committee include:

 Ј to monitor the integrity of the financial statements 
of the Company, and any formal announcements 
relating to the Company’s financial performance, 
reviewing significant financial reporting judgements 
contained in them;

 Ј to review  the  Company’s  internal financial controls 
and, unless expressly addressed by  a separate Board 
risk committee composed of independent directors, 
or by the Board itself, to review the Company’s 
internal control and risk management systems;

 Ј to monitor and review the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal audit function;

 Ј to make recommendations to the Board, for it 
to put to the shareholders for their approval in 
general meeting, in relation to the appointment, 
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor 
and to approve the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditor;

 Ј to review and monitor the external auditor’s 
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness 
of the audit process, taking into consideration 
relevant professional and regulatory requirements;

 Ј to develop and implement policy on the engagement 
of the external auditor to supply non-audit services, 
taking into account relevant ethical guidance 
regarding the provision of non-audit services by 
the external audit firm; and to report to the Board, 
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identifying any matters in respect of which it 
considers that action or improvement is needed 
and making recommendations as to the steps to be 
taken.

 Ј to review arrangements by which staff of the 
Company may, in confidence, raise concerns about 
possible improprieties in matters of financial 
reporting or other matters. The Audit Committee’s 
objective should be to ensure that arrangements 
are in place for the proportionate and independent 
investigation of such matters and for appropriate 
follow-up action.

 Ј to have primary responsibility for making 
a recommendation on the appointment, 
reappointment and removal of the external auditors.

The Audit Committee of the Board comprises of three 
members who are non-executive directors, the majority 
of whom is identified by the Board as independent 
directors.

At least one member of the Audit Committee has recent 
and relevant financial experience.

Meetings of the Audit Committee

The Chairman of the Audit Committee, in consultation 
with the Company Secretary decide the frequency and 
timing of its meetings. 

Four (4) meetings are held during the year to coincide 
with key dates within the financial reporting and audit 
cycle.  The Company’s external audit lead partner is 
invited regularly to attend the meetings. 

The Audit Committee met with the external auditors, 
without management, to discuss matters relating to its 
remit and any issues arising from the audit.

Relationship with the Board

The role of the Audit Committee is for the board to 
decide and to the extent that the Audit Committee 
undertakes tasks on behalf of the board, the results 
are reported to, and considered by, the board. In 
doing so it identifies any matters in respect of which 
it considers that action or improvement is needed, and 
make recommendations as to the steps to be taken. The 
Audit Committee should review annually its terms of 
reference and its own effectiveness and recommend any 
necessary changes to the board.

The Committee members are: Michael Bernard 
(Chairman), Matthew Hogarth, and Maria Gabriela 
Rincon.  Marcus Steele (Managing Director) and Janene 
Shaw (Finance Director) are permanent invitees.  

Key activities for financial 
year included:
Recommendation to the Board for 
approval:

 Ј Financial statements
 Ј Dividend payments
 Ј Related Party Transactions
 Ј Key Business Risks

The Committee considered 
the following in making its 
recommendations:

 Ј Reliability and integrity of 
the accounting principles and 
practices, financial statements and 
other financial reporting;

 Ј Internal audit functions of the 
Company;

 Ј Risk management functions and 
processes of the Company;

 Ј Qualifications, independence 
and performance of the external 
auditors of the Company;

 Ј System of internal controls 
and procedures established by 
management and review of their 
effectiveness;

 Ј The Company’s compliance with 
legal and regulatory requirements.



Carreras Limited Annual Report 2017              18 

Financial Statements GovernanceManagement's Discussion & Analysis

Nomination and Compensation 
Committee

Oliver Holmes
Chairman, 
Nomination & Compensation 
Committee

The main role and responsibilities of the Nomination and 
Compensation Committee include:

 Ј To determine the framework and policy on terms 
of engagement including the specific compensation 
of each executive director and each member of 
the Senior Management Team [“Leadership Team”] 
of the Company, including entitlements where 
applicable under any share incentive schemes 
and the pensions schemes and any compensation 
payments.

 Ј To make recommendations to the Board on suitable 
candidates for appointment as Board directors 
and to make recommendations to the Board as to 
the suitability of candidates for appointment as 
executive directors of the Company.

Fees payable to non-executive directors are determined 
by the main Board on the recommendation of the 
chairman and chief executive. 

The Committee is authorized by the Board to obtain 
at the Company’s expense such outside legal or 
other independent professional advice as it considers 
necessary and, in particular, is responsible for the 
appointment of any compensation consultants, 
Executive Recruitment & Placement Services [head-
hunters] or any other professional service provider who 
may advise the Committee. Where such consultants are 
appointed, the Committee is required to make available 
a statement of whether they may have any other 
connections with the Company.

Meetings of the Nomination and Compensation 
Committee
The Committee was appointed by the Board on 
September 8, 2009 and comprises three members. 
The quorum is three and in the absence of a member, 
he will select another director to be his alternate at 
the meeting. The Chairman and the Managing Director 

of Carreras Limited are required to attend meetings 
of the Committee on the occasion of a discussion 
of compensation and to discuss the performance of 
the Executive Directors and other members of the 
Senior Management Team [except when their own 
compensation is under review], and to make proposals 
as appropriate.

Relationship with the Board

The Committee shall make recommendations to the 
Board in specific regard to the re-appointment of 
any Non-executive Director at the conclusion of their 
specified term of office after reviewing the Director’s 
performance; the re-election by shareholders of any 
director under the retirement or by rotation provisions 
in the Company’s Articles of Association; and the 
continuation in office of any Director at any time.

The Committee members are: Oliver Holmes 
(Chairman), Matthew Hogarth and Brenda Wilbert.  
Marcus Steele (Managing Director) is a permanent 
invitee to the meetings.

Key activities during the financial year included:
In line with the mandate given under Section 5 of the 
Terms of Reference which states that the Committee is 
to “be responsible for identifying and nominating candidates 
for the approval of the Board, to fill vacancies on the Board 
or senior management team, ensuring that such candidates, 
as well as fitting the specific profiles, are capable of taking a 
broad view of the Company’s overall interest”:

i. On receipt of resignations from Directors, the 
Committee reviewed the dossiers of candidates and 
deliberated on their qualifications and suitability 
for the roles on the Board. Once suitable candidates 
were agreed among the Committee members,  
recommendations were made to the Board to fill the 
vacancies.

ii. The Committee ratified the bonus payment during 
the year and offered its congratulations to the 
management and staff for delivering an outstanding 
year’s results and expressed delight that the 
bonus pay-out was commensurate to the level of 
performance delivered by the Carreras’ team.

iii. The Committee ratified the salary increases which 
were implemented on April 1, 2016 based on the 
annual compensation and benefit survey results.

Number of meetings held during the Financial Year

Board 5

Audit Committee 4

Nomination and Compensation 
Committee 

2
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The table below provides details on the Directors’ attendance at Board and Committee meetings during the 
financial year.

Name of Director Board Audit Committee Nomination & Compensation Committee

Alan Bergin * 2 2 n/a

Michael Bernard 5 4 n/a

Eduardo Castaneda 5 n/a 2

Matthew Hogarth 5 4 2

Oliver Holmes 5 2 2

Andrew Long 4 n/a n/a

Janene Shaw 5 4 n/a

Marcus Steele 5 4 2

Brenda Wilbert ** 2 n/a n/a

*resigned November 1, 2016
**joined November 9, 2016

Our Corporate Governance guidelines are available on our website at www.carrerasltd.com

Our Standards of Business Conduct
Our Standards of Business Conduct express the high standards of business integrity that British American Tobacco 
(BAT) requires from employees worldwide. As a member Company of the BAT group, Carreras Limited and its 
employees are expected to comply with these standards.

The Standards of Business Conduct set out specific guidelines which provide support and guidance for employee 
conduct. Whistle blowing procedures are also put in place so that any employee who suspects wrongdoing can raise 
his/her concern in confidence.

The Standards cover four broad areas which govern general business conduct, as well as provide guidance for 
employees in making appropriate decisions and judgements in the course of work.  These areas are: 

 Ј Whistleblowing

 Ј Personal and Business Integrity-

 Ј Workplace and Human Rights; 

 Ј Public Contributions; 

 Ј Corporate Assets and Financial Integrity; 

 Ј National and International Trade.

Each employee is expected to know, understand and practice the standards, as appropriate, and review and sign in 
accordance with the policy, on an annual basis.

Our Standards of Business Conduct are available on our website at www.carrerasltd.com



Carreras Limited Annual Report 2017              20 

Financial Statements GovernanceManagement's Discussion & Analysis

Risk Management 

The effective management of risks is crucial to the fulfillment of Carreras Limited’s ission and Vision. 
Our risk management framework supports our strategy for long-term sustainability.  Carreras Limited 
manages its risks on an enterprise-wide basis across core business processes, starting at the strategic 
planning level, through to execution, evaluation and continuous monitoring.    

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s 
risk management framework.  

Risk Management Approach
The Carreras Leadership Team (CLT) has responsibility for identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring risks 
likely to face the Company and implement effective mitigating controls to manage these risks.  

Carreras believes that its risk appetite and tolerance limits are the foundation of its risk management framework; 
which ultimately establishes the risk culture for the Company.

Key Business Risks
Currently there are several risks that are identified by the Risk Management Committee (RMC) as significant 
enough to be monitored.  These risks, along with management’s mitigation measures are assessed at least on a 
quarterly basis. However, based on the Company’s risk appetite and risk tolerance, the CLT actively manages the 
key business risks covering Regulatory, People and Processes, Operational and the External Environment.
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We outline some of the key risks identified by the Company.

Regulatory Risk:  External Environment Risk:

Significant Increase in Tobacco Excise 
Significant increases in tobacco excise affects the 
ability of consumers to pay for legitimate brands, 
thus increasing the attractiveness and demand 
for low priced cigarettes. This ultimately results 
in reducing legal industry volumes as well as the 
erosion of the brand value of legitimate brands. 

Management’s response: 
Proactive stakeholder engagement towards 
ensuring a sustainable excise strategy by the 
Government. 

Tougher Tobacco Regulatory Environment
Tobacco regulation that is unbalanced and 
impractical, and prohibits the Company’s ability 
to communicate with consumers, key stakeholders 
including Government, differentiate our products in 
the marketplace and launch future products poses a 
risk to the Company’s long term sustainability. 

Management’s Response:
Proactive and robust stakeholder engagement 
and litigation strategy for balanced regulations. 
Ongoing monitoring of marketing plans to ensure 
compliance with internal self-regulations and local 
legislation. 

Competition from Illicit Trade
With affordability being a major issue for the 
Jamaican cigarette consumer, resulting from the 
macro-economic environment, as well as increasing 
prices of legal cigarette brands as a result of 
frequent and excessive excise increases, Illicit 
cigarettes are becoming more attractive as they do 
not pay the requisite taxes, and as such, are sold at 
significant lower prices than legitimate brands. This 
results in lower volumes and profits for legitimate 
players like Carreras. 

Management’s Response:
Robust anti-illicit trade strategy, active 
engagement with key external stakeholders, cross-
industry and multi-sector cooperation, proactive 
excise engagement with Government, building 
brand equity for our low price offer, strategic 
engagements and price campaigns/consumer 
engagement activities.
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External Environment Risk: (continued)

Aggressive Competitive Environment - Legal (Low - Price Offers/Grabba)

The Jamaican tobacco industry is becoming increasingly dynamic with the introduction of several new players 
offering brands in the low-priced segment of the market. Other tobacco products (OTP), mainly Grabba, continue 
to have an increasing presence within the market based on the demand for the product. Consumer affordability 
issues pose a risk in consumers switching from the Company’s value for money brands to these ultra-low price 
offers. 

Management’s Response:

Expansion of distribution network, product innovation, Grabba distribution, strategic engagement with all the 
tiers of the tobacco retailing universe.

Operational Risk: People and Processes Risk:

Concentration of Credit Risk with Large Credit 
Customers
The Company has a significant concentration of 
credit risk with large credit customers with material 
balances both individually and in aggregate.

Management’s Response:

Continuous engagement with large customers, 
on-going assessment of recoverability of balances 
which may be impacted by changes in the economic 
and business environment, expansion of the 
distribution network.

Losing Key Talent
As the market becomes more saturated and 
globalized, competition for talent has become 
more fierce. As such, if the value proposition from 
the organization is not aligned with the demands 
of these talents, the risk of losing them to other 
organizations becomes imminent. 

Management’s Response:

Strong retention plan, benchmark against the top 
ten companies’ compensation, focus on succession 
planning, employee engagement strategy.



23              Carreras Limited Annual Report 2017

Financial StatementsGovernance Management's Discussion & Analysis

Ten-Year Financial Review

(all figures expressed in thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)

FINANCIAL YEAR 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 Restated 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10 Restated 2008/09 2007/08

PROFIT & LOSS SUMMARY

GROSS OPERATING REVENUE 13,509,228 11,980,138 11,208,369 10,342,006 12,241,512 11,022,746 12,935,692 10,410,178 10,923,530 9,037,241

TRADING  PROFIT 4,933,927 3,736,050 3,804,121 3,199,787 3,844,022 3,437,158 4,291,204 3,514,143 4,782,969 5,136,894

INCOME FROM NON ROUTINE TRANSACTIONS  -  -  -  1,787,365 5,083,600  -  -  -  -  - 

TOTAL TRADING PROFIT 4,933,927 3,736,050 3,804,121 4,987,152 8,927,622 3,437,158 4,291,204 3,514,143 4,782,969 5,136,894 

INVESTMENT & INTEREST INCOME 108,262 176,612 146,141 174,719 158,294 125,672 138,890 269,142 599,027 690,841

OPERATING PROFIT 5,042,189 3,912,662 3,950,262 5,161,871 9,085,916 3,562,830 4,430,094 3,783,285 5,381,996 5,827,735

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT INCOME (32,300) (9,100) (11,900) 22,600 (233,100) 363,400 550,400 711,200 694,900  - 

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 5,009,889 3,903,562 3,938,362 5,184,471 8,852,816 3,926,230 4,980,494 4,494,485 6,076,896 5,827,735 

PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 3,806,322 3,011,333 2,942,960 4,003,175 6,234,234 2,597,220 3,314,076 3,001,875 4,093,911 4,000,020

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO STOCKHOLDERS 3,806,233 3,011,191 2,942,914 3,999,992 6,234,059 2,597,229 3,314,097 3,001,869 4,093,682 3,999,018

BALANCE SHEET SUMMARY

FIXED ASSETS 300,150 236,485 248,256 204,632 158,650 145,150 140,190 114,724 101,915 79,945

SHARE CAPITAL 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360

RESERVES 2,006,755 1,654,302 3,050,396 4,073,129 3,562,164 2,818,195 3,210,417 2,669,801 3,472,034 7,768,667

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 2,128,115 1,775,662 3,171,756 4,194,489 3,683,524 2,939,555 3,331,777 2,791,161 3,593,394 7,890,027 

FINANCIAL RATIOS

TRADING PROFIT MARGIN 36.5% 31.2% 33.9% 30.9% 31.4% 31.2% 33.2% 33.8% 43.8% 56.8%

OPERATING  PROFIT/OPERATING REVENUE 37.3% 32.7% 35.2% 32.6% 32.7% 32.3% 34.2% 36.3% 49.3% 64.5%

STOCKHOLDERS’ RETURN ON EQUITY 178.9% 169.6% 92.8% 95.4% 169.2% 88.4% 99.5% 107.5% 113.9% 50.7%

EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT  (from normal operations) 784.08¢ 620.30¢ 606.24¢ 547.85¢ 551.16¢ 535.03¢ 682.7¢ 618.3¢ 843.2¢ 823.8¢
EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT  (from non-routine transactions) - - - 276.15¢ 733.05¢ - - - - -

P/E RATIO 9.4 10.7 6.6 4.3 4.1 11.8 8.9 7.8 4.4 8.9

DISTRIBUTION - PER STOCK UNIT 710¢ 894¢ 809¢ 704¢ 1,179¢ 560¢ 500¢ 700¢ 1,630¢ 540¢

OTHER DATA

SHARE CAPITAL

- STOCK UNITS IN ISSUE (‘000) 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440

CLOSING STOCK PRICE ($) - MARCH 31 74.00 66.15 39.97 35.51 52.92 63.00 60.51 48.50 37.76 73.51

DIVIDEND PAID 3,446,624 4,342,104 3,930,709 3,418,898 5,723,338 2,718,464 2,427,200 3,398,080 7,912,672 2,621,376

DEPRECIATION CHARGED 57,407 62,506 65,887 50,556 46,616 55,349 48,884 40,833 25,081 22,555

EXCHANGE GAIN / (LOSS)  52,202  30,692  45,591  88,953  160,582  19,369  (48,911) 4,945 209,967 167,855

WEIGHTED AVERAGE EXCHANGE RATES:

US$ 1 to J$ 127.7664 122.0421 115.0435 109.5744 98.8865 87.3000 85.7486 89.5082 88.8158 71.0888
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Ten-Year Financial Review

(all figures expressed in thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)

FINANCIAL YEAR 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 Restated 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10 Restated 2008/09 2007/08

PROFIT & LOSS SUMMARY

GROSS OPERATING REVENUE 13,509,228 11,980,138 11,208,369 10,342,006 12,241,512 11,022,746 12,935,692 10,410,178 10,923,530 9,037,241

TRADING  PROFIT 4,933,927 3,736,050 3,804,121 3,199,787 3,844,022 3,437,158 4,291,204 3,514,143 4,782,969 5,136,894

INCOME FROM NON ROUTINE TRANSACTIONS  -  -  -  1,787,365 5,083,600  -  -  -  -  - 

TOTAL TRADING PROFIT 4,933,927 3,736,050 3,804,121 4,987,152 8,927,622 3,437,158 4,291,204 3,514,143 4,782,969 5,136,894 

INVESTMENT & INTEREST INCOME 108,262 176,612 146,141 174,719 158,294 125,672 138,890 269,142 599,027 690,841

OPERATING PROFIT 5,042,189 3,912,662 3,950,262 5,161,871 9,085,916 3,562,830 4,430,094 3,783,285 5,381,996 5,827,735

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT INCOME (32,300) (9,100) (11,900) 22,600 (233,100) 363,400 550,400 711,200 694,900  - 

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 5,009,889 3,903,562 3,938,362 5,184,471 8,852,816 3,926,230 4,980,494 4,494,485 6,076,896 5,827,735 

PROFIT AFTER TAXATION 3,806,322 3,011,333 2,942,960 4,003,175 6,234,234 2,597,220 3,314,076 3,001,875 4,093,911 4,000,020

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO STOCKHOLDERS 3,806,233 3,011,191 2,942,914 3,999,992 6,234,059 2,597,229 3,314,097 3,001,869 4,093,682 3,999,018

BALANCE SHEET SUMMARY

FIXED ASSETS 300,150 236,485 248,256 204,632 158,650 145,150 140,190 114,724 101,915 79,945

SHARE CAPITAL 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360 121,360

RESERVES 2,006,755 1,654,302 3,050,396 4,073,129 3,562,164 2,818,195 3,210,417 2,669,801 3,472,034 7,768,667

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 2,128,115 1,775,662 3,171,756 4,194,489 3,683,524 2,939,555 3,331,777 2,791,161 3,593,394 7,890,027 

FINANCIAL RATIOS

TRADING PROFIT MARGIN 36.5% 31.2% 33.9% 30.9% 31.4% 31.2% 33.2% 33.8% 43.8% 56.8%

OPERATING  PROFIT/OPERATING REVENUE 37.3% 32.7% 35.2% 32.6% 32.7% 32.3% 34.2% 36.3% 49.3% 64.5%

STOCKHOLDERS’ RETURN ON EQUITY 178.9% 169.6% 92.8% 95.4% 169.2% 88.4% 99.5% 107.5% 113.9% 50.7%

EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT  (from normal operations) 784.08¢ 620.30¢ 606.24¢ 547.85¢ 551.16¢ 535.03¢ 682.7¢ 618.3¢ 843.2¢ 823.8¢
EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT  (from non-routine transactions) - - - 276.15¢ 733.05¢ - - - - -

P/E RATIO 9.4 10.7 6.6 4.3 4.1 11.8 8.9 7.8 4.4 8.9

DISTRIBUTION - PER STOCK UNIT 710¢ 894¢ 809¢ 704¢ 1,179¢ 560¢ 500¢ 700¢ 1,630¢ 540¢

OTHER DATA

SHARE CAPITAL

- STOCK UNITS IN ISSUE (‘000) 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440 485,440

CLOSING STOCK PRICE ($) - MARCH 31 74.00 66.15 39.97 35.51 52.92 63.00 60.51 48.50 37.76 73.51

DIVIDEND PAID 3,446,624 4,342,104 3,930,709 3,418,898 5,723,338 2,718,464 2,427,200 3,398,080 7,912,672 2,621,376

DEPRECIATION CHARGED 57,407 62,506 65,887 50,556 46,616 55,349 48,884 40,833 25,081 22,555

EXCHANGE GAIN / (LOSS)  52,202  30,692  45,591  88,953  160,582  19,369  (48,911) 4,945 209,967 167,855

WEIGHTED AVERAGE EXCHANGE RATES:

US$ 1 to J$ 127.7664 122.0421 115.0435 109.5744 98.8865 87.3000 85.7486 89.5082 88.8158 71.0888
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Marcus Steele

Camille Robinson
Ashleigh-Ann Arnold

Leadership Team

Ashleigh-Ann Arnold
(Legal & External Affairs 
Manager)
BSc. (Hons), MA (Dist)

Ashleigh-Ann was appointed as the 
Legal and External Affairs Manager 
in March 2016. She previously served 
as the Legal and External Affairs 
Executive for Carreras since 2008 
and concurrently since 2014, Legal 
and External Affairs Executive for 11 
Markets in the Northern Caribbean 
for Carisma Marketing Services, 
another British American Tobacco 
Company.

After joining the Company in 
2005 as a Management Trainee, 
Ashleigh was promoted to the 
role of Corporate and Regulatory 
Affairs Executive during which 
time she played an integral role in 
the execution of the Company’s 
reputation and  regulatory strategy.

Marcus Steele
(Managing Director)
BSc., ACCA, CA, MBA, GMP (HBS)

Mr. Marcus Steele currently serves 
as Managing Director of Carreras 
Limited. He graduated from St. 
Jago High School and is a qualified 
Chartered Accountant and has 
a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Accounting from the University 
of the West Indies and a Master 
of Business Administration from 
Florida International University. Mr. 
Steele also completed an Executive 
Programme in General Management 
at the Harvard Business School. 

Mr. Steele first joined Carreras Group 
Limited in the Company’s Tobacco 
division, Cigarette Company of 
Jamaica Limited, in the capacity 
of the Company’s Management 
Accountant in April 1998. 

Camille Robinson
(Marketing Deployment Manager)
BSc.

Camille joined Carreras in 2009 as 
a Trade Marketing Representative.   
In 2011, she was seconded to BAT’s 
Caribbean and Central America 
Office as a Marketing Management 
Trainee. Camille returned to 
Carreras in 2012 to fill a critical gap 
in the Brand Marketing area and was 
promoted to her current role of 
Marketing Deployment Executive.  
Since then, Camille’s passion and 
drive has resulted in the successful 
roll-out of several new products 
which exceeded their sales targets 
in their specific brand category. 

Continued... Continued... Continued...
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Janene ShawMonique Blake
Heather Bulgin Williams

Janene Shaw
(Finance Director & Company 
Secretary)
FCA, FCCA, BSc

Mrs. Janene Shaw joined Carreras 
Limited as Finance Director and 
Company Secretary and was 
appointed to the Board of Directors 
on May 27, 2015. Janene is a qualified 
Chartered Accountant with a 
Bachelor of Science degree in 
Accounting from the University of 
the West Indies, Mona. She has over 
25 years’ experience and a proven 
track record in financial management, 
accounting and auditing.  Janene is 
responsible for the Strategic Financial 
Management of the Company and 
also performs the role of Company 
Secretary.  

Monique Blake
(Human Resource Business 
Partner)
AAS (Hons), BBA (Hons), MBA

Monique joined Carreras in May 2015 
as the Human Resource Business 
Partner. She has more than 15 years’ 
experience in financial services 
and human resource management 
and brings with her a wealth of 
diverse experiences in the field 
of Administration and Human 
Resources Management. Having led 
the human resources management 
and development functions in 
several organizations, Monique has 
garnered significant experience in 
talent acquisition and retention, 
industrial relations, training, 
development and performance 
management, rewards and 
recognition, payroll, re-structuring 
and compensation and benefits. 

Heather Bulgin Williams
(Trade Marketing & Distribution 
Manager)
BSc., MBA 

Heather joined Carreras in June 
2015 as the Trade Marketing and 
Distribution Manager. She comes 
with over 16 years’ experience 
and a proven track record in sales 
and marketing in the Fast Moving 
Consumer Goods (FMCG) industry. 
Prior to joining Carreras, Heather 
was a Key Account Manager at 
Celebration Brands Limited, a joint 
venture between Red Stripe and 
Pepsi-Cola Jamaica, where she 
directly led initiatives that resulted 
in increased distribution coverage 
of the Company’s portfolio of 
products and double digit growth 
in sales, specifically in the School 
Channel.

Continued... Continued... Continued...
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Ashleigh-Ann Arnold
In February 2012, she was seconded 
to British American Tobacco 
Caribbean and Central America’s 
(BATCCA) Area Office in Costa 
Rica as the Area Corporate Social 
Responsibility & Regulations 
Executive where she was responsible 
for developing and coordinating 
BATCCA’s corporate social 
responsibility initiatives and 
regulatory strategy in 30 markets 
across the Caribbean and Central 
America.

Ashleigh holds a Bachelor of Science 
degree, Cum Laude, in Integrated 
Marketing Communications, from 
Winthrop University in the USA 
and a Master of Arts Degree, with 
distinction, in Communications 
Studies, from the University of 
the West Indies. She has served 
as a Director, Nature Preservation 
Foundation, since 2009 and is the 
Jamaica Chamber of Commerce 
Representative on the Government of 
Jamaica and European Union Poverty 
Reduction Steering Committee. She 
loves travelling, dancing, working-
out, and the culinary arts and is 
married to Tennyson. 

Marcus Steele
In June 1999, he was promoted 
to Finance Planning Manager and 
later appointed Marketing Finance 
Manager in June 2001. In May 
2002, Mr. Steele was appointed 
Finance Planning Manager for 
Cigarette Company of Jamaica 
Limited with overall responsibility 
for management of Marketing and 
Operations Finance. In March 2004, 
Mr. Steele was seconded to British 
American Tobacco Caribbean and 
Central America’s Area Office in 
Costa Rica as the Country Readiness 
Manager for the Caribbean with 
the responsibility for leading the 
migration of the Caribbean legal 
entities into the regional shared 
service centre. In July 2005, he 
was appointed Finance Planning 
and Reporting Manager for BAT’s 
operations in the Caribbean and 
Central America where he focused 
on financial reporting, strategy and 
planning. Mr. Marcus Steele was 
then appointed to the Carreras 
Board of Directors on October 1, 
2007 and served as Finance Director 
and Company Secretary up until 
August 2011 when he was seconded 
to the Trinidad branch of another 
BAT Company, Carisma Marketing 
Services Limited, in the position of 

Country Manager with responsibility 
for the general management of the 
Company’s businesses across 24 
markets in the English, French and 
Dutch Caribbean. 

Mr. Steele serves as a Director on 
the Board of Proven Wealth Limited 
and Peak Bottling Limited. He enjoys 
reading, dancing, cricket, football 
and athletics and has two children, 
son, Marquis and daughter, Sonique.

Camille Robinson
Camille has also led several high 
quality consumer engagements 
including Bacchanal and Reggae 
Sumfest and executed the successful 
launch of the Craven “A” Special 
variant, the first tobacco-wrapped 
product for the Americas, which 
achieved 80% distribution within 
the first six weeks.  In January 2016, 
Camille was appointed  a member of 
the Carreras Leadership Team.

Prior to joining Carreras, Camille 
worked in the Marketing Department 
at Best Dressed Foods (Jamaica 
Broilers) where she developed 
and executed several successful 
promotional campaigns.  

Camille is a graduate of the 
University of Technology with 
a Bachelor of Science Degree in 
Hospitality and Tourism Management.  
At the end of this degree program, 
she was selected to participate in a 
12 month internship with the Walt 
Disney World Company in Orlando, 
Florida.  This experience helped to 
hone her international relations skills 
and nurtured her love of travelling to 
new and exotic places.

Monique Blake
Monique holds a Bachelor of 
Business Administration degree 
with a concentration in Business 
Management (Hons) and an Associate 
of Applied Science in Accounting 
(Hons) from Monroe College in 
New Rochelle, New York. Monique 
also holds a Master of Business 
Administration in Human Resources 
Management from the University 
of New Haven in Connecticut and is 
a member of the Human Resource 
Management Association of Jamaica 
(HRMAJ). Monique is an avid reader 
who enjoys travelling, surfing the 
internet and exploring new recipe 
ideas.

Janene Shaw
Prior to joining Carreras, Janene 
was employed at J. Wray & Nephew 
Limited / Lascelles deMercado & Co. 
Limited where she held various senior 
finance positions being General 
Manager, Finance & Administration 
– JWN Agricultural Division, Group 
Financial Officer and Accounting and 
Treasury Director.

Prior to that, Janene was employed at 
PriceWaterhouseCoopers where she 
gained progressive audit experience 
to the level of Audit Manager. 

Janene is a Member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Jamaica 
and the Association of Certified 
Chartered Accountants in the U.K. 

Janene enjoys athletics, cricket, 
spending time with family and has an 
interest in the different cultures of 
the world. Janene is married to Ewan 
and they have two daughters, Kristen 
and Justine.

Heather Bulgin Williams
Heather has also held other senior 
sales and marketing and brand 
management roles at Pepsi-Cola 
Jamaica and Nestlé Jamaica, with a 
proven track record in increasing 
brand and product awareness 
and market share, negotiating 
exclusive partnerships with 
strategic key accounts and category 
management. At Pepsi, she received 
the General Manager’s Award for 
Outstanding Performance and Target 
Achievement in the area of On 
Premise sales.

During her tenure at Carreras, she has 
been instrumental in the successful 
implementation of the February 1, 
2016 new RTM structure which saw 
the integration of the Bike Sales 
Team (previously contractors) in 
the Company. Heather also played 
a critical role in the delivery of the 
2016 Business KPIs. Heather holds 
a Bachelor of Science Degree in 
Management Studies from the 
University of the West Indies, Mona, 
and an MBA from Florida International 
University. Heather enjoys playing 
dominoes, doing word and number 
puzzles, and spending time with 
family and friends. She is married 
to husband, Andrew and has two 
children – stepson, Denandre and 
son, Elisandro.
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Management’s Discussion & Analysis

Managing 
Director’s  
Overview

“Consistent consumer loyalty, 
excellent branding and warm 
customer relations ensured that 
your Company continued to 
lead the tobacco marketing and 
customer relations landscape.”

We recorded another profitable year 
for your Company, upholding a 55-year 
tradition of strength and stability and 
outstanding leadership, guided by an 
unwavering commitment to sustainable 
value creation for our shareholders. 

Profit after tax increased year over 
year, by 26.4%, from $3,011 million to 
$3,806 million. This achievement is 
despite the strong external pressures 
faced by management. To deal with 
the challenges, various cost-cutting 
strategies were put into play to ensure 
that resources were efficiently utilized. 
Our restructuring of the organization’s 
distribution model contributed to a 
reduction in operating costs of 11.2%. 

Additionally, we again faced an 
increase in the Special Consumption 
Tax (SCT) in May 2016 and March 2017 
of 16.7% and 21.4%, respectively. In 
order to ensure profitability, your 
Company responded with excise led 
price increases during the same periods 
which mitigated the effects of the 
SCT, demonstrated by the increase in 
operating revenue by $1.5 billion or 
12.8% for the year under review.  Profit 
after tax therefore increased by 26.4%, 
to $3,806 million, a strong reversal of 
the decreases seen in 2013/2014 and 
2015/2016. We have been persistent in 
our engagement with Government on 
the adverse impact these dramatic and 
frequent increases are having on our 

Management’s 
Discussion & Analysis

Managing Director’s  Overview

Marcus Steele
Managing Director
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volume base and consequentially 
on Government’s revenues. Within 
a 10-year period, the Company 
has been hit with an astounding 
cumulative increase in the SCT of 
367%, more than 5 times the 73% 
cumulative rate of inflation for that 
same period. 

These frequent and large increases 
in SCT on cigarettes has led to 
price increases which have in turn 
affected the ability of consumers to 
afford our brands. With the prices 
of legitimate cigarette brands being 
significantly higher than the prices 
of illicit brands that evade payment 
of these taxes, the ultra-Low price 
offer of illicit cigarettes become 
much more appealing and therefore 
proliferate. This phenomenon is 
consistent with the experience in 
other markets world-wide.  The 
authorities have done excellent 
work in tackling the prevalence 
of illicit cigarettes in the market, 
particularly the Counter Terrorism 
and Organized Crime Investigation 
Branch of the Police Force, but the 
gains made are being threatened.  
We acknowledge that it is a shared 
aim between our Company and 
the Government to decrease illicit 
trade, as this unfair competition 
undermines the industry’s 
sustainability and Government’s 
well-needed revenues. We will 
therefore continue to make 
representation in this regard, 
working with the authorities to 
control this illegal trade.

The extremely low pricing of illicit 
cigarettes  mostly affects the sales 
of our value for money brands, 
Craven “A” and Matterhorn. In 
response, during the year, the team 
led a captivating set of campaigns 
revolving around our stalwart 
brands and it was clear that your 
Company continues to enjoy high 
consumer confidence and loyalty. 
Our trade partners, large and small 
were also very supportive of our 
business efforts which is critical as 
they remain integral to the success 
of the business.  We offer them our 
special thanks. 

Last year we advised shareholders 
of our continuous monitoring of the 
raw tobacco segment of the market, 
specifically the phenomena of the 
growth in the offer of “grabba” and 

our assessment of a commercial 
response. In this regard, we tapped 
into our innovative and fit and ready 
approach, and implemented a plan 
to enter this ultra-low price segment 
of the market with a new product, 
“Fyah Grabba”. During 2016, we 
conducted a pilot test which was 
highly successful and provides a 
strong platform for our Company to 
formally enter that segment of the 
market with our Fyah Grabba brand. 
We are confident consumers will 
embrace our brand as a competitive 
grabba offer as well as a low-cost 
alternative.

Despite the challenges, market 
capitalization increased from $32.1 
billion to $35.9 billion and the 
money gained from operations 
increased from $3.08 billion to $3.35 
billion. Your Company is formidable 
and continues to deliver results 
using cost containment measures, 
smart marketing and operational 
optimization. 

With the incorporation of the full 
bike sales team into the Carreras 
trade marketing and distribution 
structure, and other initiatives, 
we managed to achieve all critical 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). 
Consistent consumer loyalty, 
excellent branding and warm 
customer relations ensured that 
your Company continued to lead the 
tobacco marketing and customer 
relations landscape. Despite the 
recent influx of competitors in 
Q3/Q4 of 2016, consumers as well 
as our trade partners still regard 
Jamaica as the land of “Craven “A”.

Carreras remains responsible and 
dedicated to its nation-building 
efforts. Our scholarship programme 
served once more as a signature 
initiative of our corporate social 
responsibility. This year we awarded 
more than 40 scholarships, including 
six Hope Scholarships to children of 
slain police officers pursuing tertiary 
education, and three SEEK (Striving 
for Excellence and Empowering 
Knowledge) scholarships.  The SEEK 
scholarships are valued at $1 million 
each. These activities were joined 
by our constant targeting of inner 
city individuals for recruitment to 
Carreras, road safety initiatives, 
crime prevention and investment in 
the arts.

We continue to retain and recruit 
high performing individuals, ensure 
succession planning and encourage 
work-life balance. Carreras remains 
an excellent company to work for. 

This year, with our new “fit for 
purpose” model, Carreras has 
increased employee affinity 
and commitment and therefore 
enhanced productivity and 
strengthened morale. An engaging 
calendar of learning focused and 
recognition-centric activities was 
planned and executed during the 
year. By aligning skillsets, values and 
experiences with your Company’s 
vision, our leadership pipeline was 
further developed. This in addition 
to a cross-functional team, and 
our familiar excellence, will form 
the backbone of our operational 
structure and help us to constantly 
improve the organization as we 
head towards achieving our 2020 
strategic leadership agenda. 

I want to thank the staff for their 
hard work. Without them, none of 
what we achieve at Carreras would 
be possible. They are the moving 
pieces that come together to 
improve success. I would also like 
to thank the Chairman and indeed 
the entire board for its guidance. 
Their advice has been a key asset in 
leading the organization. 

Carreras remains an amazing 
Company as reinforced by the 
awards over the years, leadership, 
profitability and recognition as a 
great place to work. On the horizon, 
a strong future is clear. We will 
continue to work hard and smart 
in order to execute innovative and 
effective strategies. We will protect 
our legacy as the first Company 
to be established in independent 
Jamaica, a true and longstanding 
partner in the country’s growth 
and development, and of course, 
continue to leverage the strength of 
our people, brands and relationships 
in order to protect the value 
delivered to you our shareholders.
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Profit and Loss Analysis
Operating Revenues

Financial Results

Profit after Tax (in millions of JMD)

$3,806m
+26.4%
2016: +2.3%

Note: FY 2013/14 and FY 2012/13 both include income from non-routine 
transactions, being $1.79 billion (interest income in relation to the CCJ tax case) 
and $5.08 billion (pension surplus on winding up of a defined benefit plan, 
respectively.

2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13

3,806
3,011 2,943

4,003

6,234

Dividend per Share

$7.10
-20.6%
2016: +10.5% 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13

J$7.10
J$8.94 J$8.09

J$7.04

J$11.79

The financial performance for the year ended March 31, 2017 which indicates 
growth and profitability, demonstrates the Company’s continued focus and 
commitment to achieving a sustainable business and to increase shareholder 
value.  Operating Revenues totaling $13.51 billion increased by 12.8% whilst 
Profit After Tax of $3.81 billion achieved growth of 26.4%, both compared 
to the prior year.  The continuous investment in innovation of our core 
brands, Craven “A” and Matterhorn, key wins in the fight against the illicit 
trade, the productivity and efficiency gains from revamping our distribution 
footprint, and the efficient management of our cost base, all contributed to 
the successful financial performance of the Company in 2016/17.

Dividends
The Company distributed $3.44 billion (2016: $4.34 billion) to shareholders 
for the 2016/17 financial year, representing a dividend of $7.10 per stock 

Key performance indicators which 
reflect the Company’s positive 
results are:

 Ј Trading profit margin:  36.5% 
(2016: 31.2%)

 Ј Operating Profit / Operating 
Revenue:  37.3% (2016: 32.7%)

 Ј Cash generated from 
operations:  $3.35 billion 
(2016: $3.08 billion)

 Ј Earnings per Stock unit:  
784.08¢ (2016: 620.30¢)

 Ј Stockholders’ return on equity:  
178.9% (2016: 169.6%)

 Ј Market capitalization:  $35.9 
billion (2016: $32.1 billion)

unit (2016: $8.94 per stock unit).  For 
the current year, dividends were 
distributed from reserves from 
normal operations compared to 
the prior year which also included 
a special distribution of $2.54 per 
stock unit from reserves relating to 
the CCJ tax case. Overall, dividends 
from normal operations increased 
by 10.9% compared to the prior 
year.

Carreras Limited reported 
Operating Revenues of $13.51 billion 
for the year ended March 31, 2017.  
Revenue grew by $1.5 billion or 
12.8% compared to the prior year; 
being impacted by both volume and 
price.

Operating Revenue (in millions of JMD)

$13,509m
+12.8%
2016: +6.9%

2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13

13,509
11,980 11,208 10,342

12,242
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Operating Expenses

One of the successes of the current financial year is the 11.2% reduction in 
Administrative, Distribution and Marketing Expenses over the prior year 

Cost of Operating Revenue

400%
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300%
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50%
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61% 55% 43% 31% 22% 
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183% 

100% 
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Cost of Sales (in millions of JMD)

$6,970m
+11.6%
2016: +6.4%

2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13

6,970.0
6,244.0 5,867.2

5,268.8
6,563.0

Operating expenses (in millions of JMD)

$1,840m
-11.2%
2016: +3.8%

2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13

1,840 

2,071 

1,995

2,084
2,041

Revenues were impacted by excise led price increases which were implemented in May 2016 and March 2017.  The 
Government increased SCT on cigarettes by 16.7% and 21.4% in May 2016 and March 2017, respectively.   

We remain committed to satisfying consumer moments, and as such, for the year, the Company continued to invest 
in its core brands, Craven “A” and Matterhorn.  Within the context of consecutive years of price increases, the 
strength of our brands continues to be reflected in the Company’s revenue performance.

 In terms of volumes, although the consumption of cigarettes declined, the Company had a better volume mix, as 
well as, during the year, the Company revamped its distribution footprint which allowed for the expansion into new 
areas across the island and within the inner-city, thereby increasing its customer base coverage. Additionally, the 
volume decline was also mitigated by some successes in the fight against the illicit trade. 

Special Consumption Tax Rate Increases

The chart shows the increases in Special Consumption Tax (SCT) as well as 
the increases in inflation over the 8-year period.  The 367% cumulative rate 
of increase in SCT greatly surpasses the 73% cumulative rate of inflation.
Moreover, the trend indicates a widening of the gap between the two.   

Since the 21.4% increase in the 
SCT rate in March 2017, there are 
concerns that recent gains may be 
eroded and that once again, the 
illicit trade will increase and the 
Government’s expected revenue 
will not be met.

Going forward, we will continue 
to partner with the Government as 
we encourage the implementation 
of a sustainable excise strategy.  In 
addition, the continued will and 
commitment of the authorities to 
stamp out the illicit trade is critical.   

Cost of operating revenue 
amounted to $6.97 billion, an 
11.6% increase compared to $6.24 
billion recorded in prior year. The 
increase in the cost of operating 
revenue is in direct correlation to 
the increase in operating revenues 
being impacted mainly by increases 
in SCT.  The Company also recorded 
efficiency gains in other variable 
cost components.

(2017: $1.84 billion; 2016: $2.07 
billion). This decrease which is 
commendable within the context 
of a 4% inflation rate for the year, 
is due mainly to the reduction in 
the distribution cost as-a-result 
of the change in the distribution 
model.  In addition, during the year, 
management employed various 
cost containment and cost cutting 
initiatives. 
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Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from a counterparty to a financial 
contract failing to discharge its obligations and arises principally from the 

Credit Risk (in millions of JMD)

  Accounts Receivable

  Cash & Cash Equivalents 
(2012/13 includes Resale  
Agreement $1,565)

612 448

1,345 1,649
315

2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13

2,583 2,622

3,725 3,222
3,924

Total Liabilities (in millions of JMD)

$2,047m
+5.8%
2016: -35.8%

2,047 1,935

3,015 2,825
3,370

2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14 2012/13

The revamping of our distribution 
model in February 2016 provided 
the platform for a leaner and 
more efficient structure with a 
greater reach and impact.  The 
main features included the closure 
of two of our seven depots and 
the re-structuring of the sales 
force, including the permanent 
employment of the previously 
contracted bike sales team.  

The Company also benefited 
from the continuous process 
improvement achieved throughout 
the British American Tobacco 
Group, evidenced by a 7.4% 
reduction in related party service 
costs. 

Interest and Investment 
Income
Interest and Investment Income 
decreased by 38.7% from $176.61 
million in the prior year to $108.26 
million in the current year. The 
decline in market interest rates over 
the period is the mainly responsible 
for this outturn.  The Group 
continues to strategically manage 
its cash holdings to maximize 
returns from investment placements 
and to ensure that working capital 
needs are adequately covered.

Income tax
The effective tax rate for the 
2016/17 financial year amounted 
to 24.0% slightly higher than the 
22.9% recorded for 2015/16.  

Income tax for the period totaling 
$1.20 billion (2015/16: $0.89 billion) 
increased by 34.9%.  The increase 
over the prior year is due to 
increased profitability as well as a 
reduction in capital income.

Financial Position Review
The Group’s financial position 
remains strong, showing growth in 
total assets and a healthy working 
capital. 

The Group’s total assets as at March 
31, 2017 of $4.17 billion increased by 
approximately $464.50 million or 
12.5% compared to the prior year. 
Increases were noted in property, 
plant and equipment, accounts 
receivables and inventories.

The working capital which indicates 
the Company’s short term liquidity 
position, amounts to $1.90 billion at 
March 31, 2017 (2016: $1.60 billion); 
increasing by $300.37 million or 
18.7% compared to the prior year 

end.  The current ratio at March 
2017 remains strong at 2.07:1 
compared to 1.94:1 for March 2016.

Cash and cash equivalents 
accounted for 61.8% of the total 
assets amounted to $2.58 billion 
as at March 31, 2017 (2016: $2.62 
billion). For the year in review, the 
net cash provided by operating 
activities and net cash provided 
by investing activities were 
$3.35 billion and $0.60 million 
respectively.

Accounts Receivables increased by 
$163.99 million or 36.6% compared 
to the prior year. Trade receivables 
accounted for 88.7% of the total 
receivables. Trade Receivables 
totaling $543.10 million increased 
by $174.3 million or 47.3% reflecting 
increased utilization of credit due 
to trade demand coupled with the 
increase in prices over prior year.  
The allowance for impairment 
losses totaled $0.56 million or 
0.1% of trade receivables for the 
year (2016: $8.53 million or 2.3% 
of trade receivables).  In addition 
to the employment of credit risk 
strategies, this improvement is 
due to the recovery of customer 
balances which were previously 
provided for.

Group’s receivables from customers, 
cash and investment securities.  At 
March 31, 2017, the Group’s credit 
risk resulting from receivables and 
cash and investments amounted 
to $3.20 billion, a 4.1% increase 
compared to prior year’s $3.07 
billion.

As in previous years, credit risk is 
continually and rigorously assessed 
by Management and the Board.

Total liabilities as at March 31, 
2017 amounted to $2.05 billion, 
an increase of 5.8% compared to 
the prior year. This was mainly 
attributable to the normalization 
of income tax payable for the 
Company without the impact of the 
CCJ offsets which were recovered in 
full in 2016.
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Marketing

Trade Marketing & Distribution
The Tobacco Industry continues to be one of the more difficult FMCG industries, given the high level of 
regulations, the propensity for government taxes and the ever-growing illicit trade. Notwithstanding, 
Carreras Limited remains a formidable Company within the Industry, having maintained a longstanding 
tradition of excellence in several areas, including:

 Ј Consumer satisfaction

 Ј Product delivery

 Ј Excellent Customer relations.

Importantly, the Company has a culture of excellence which transcends all staff members, making Carreras 
Limited a GREAT PLACE TO WORK.

On February 1, 2016, the Company implemented a 
new route to market (RTM) structure which saw the 
incorporation of the previously contracted Bike Sales 
Team into the mainstream of the organization.  With 
one full year having elapsed, we can truly say this 
change has been immensely successful. The Company 
was able to achieve all critical Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs), delivering the proposed savings with 
positive impact on sales volume and a rejuvenated and 
highly motivated sales & distribution team.The year 
under review, though successful, had challenges:

 Ј Time was needed to properly integrate the new Bike 
Sales Team into the Company’s culture

 Ј Productivity and Effectiveness (P&E) arising from 
the RTM changes were negatively impacted

 Ј Increased accidents among our Bike Sales Team

 Ј Proliferation of illicit cigarettes in the market

 Ј Increased competitive activity with three new 
players entering the market in Q3/Q4 2016.

These challenges brought out the resilience of the 
Trade Team and showed that, as a Company, with the 
right structure and people, we were indeed “Fit for the 
Future”. The Bike Sales team members, many of whom 
are products of the country’s inner-city communities, 
embraced the norms and values of our corporate 

culture, making the integration into one Trade 
Marketing and Distribution (TM&D) Team, working 
together towards one common goal, a success.

With the major RTM change, we discovered further 
opportunities in the assignment of customers on 
appropriate routes, as well as in identifying the most 
appropriate sales visit frequency.  In the first three 
months of implementation, the TM&D Team ensured 
the delivery of the monthly volumes while working 
with the Back Office support team to normalize and 
stabilize the identified issues. The team’s Productivity & 
Effectiveness KPIs, though negatively impacted, steadily 
improved month on month as the areas requiring route 
cleaning were addressed.

Another area that needed careful attention and 
an urgent response was the safety of our newly 
incorporated Bike Sales Representatives. In order to 
mitigate against increasing accidents, the Company 
responded with a robust Environmental Health & 
Safety (EHS) Agenda which entailed training sessions 
on defensive driving, alert driving, safety & security.  
We engaged in constant and consistent reinforcement 
of these messages with the overall aim being to make 
EH&S a way of life. While we still aim to achieve 
zero accidents, we are encouraged by the significant 
reduction year to date.
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As a leading FMCG Company operating in a highly 
lucrative industry, the Illicit trade continues to be the #1 
threat to the sustainability of the industry and, by 
extension, the Company.  The influx of illicit and 
counterfeit products has had a negative impact on the 
performance of our core brands – Craven A and 
Matterhorn. Further, while Pall Mall enjoyed increased 
distribution in 2016, the brand is still unable to 
effectively compete in the low priced offer segment, 
given the extremely low price points of the illicit SKUs. 
The Company remains resolute and continues its 
excellent engagement with the Authorities with the 
expectation that increased enforcement and border 
protection controls will have the required success in 
minimizing or eliminating the illicit trade scourge.

With strong brands, great consumer loyalty and 
excellent customer relations, Carreras Limited continues 
to be successful and relevant in the market place.  
Despite the recent influx of competitive activity, we 
have the confidence that consumers still regard Jamaica 
as “Craven ‘A’ Country” and the Trade Team works 
assiduously with our supply chain partners to ensure

Jason Peart (left), Trade Marketing Representative, shares a light 
moment with customer, Odean Robinson.

our products are always within reach of our consumers.
Indeed, the year 2016/17 was a great one for the 
Company and we now look to 2017/18 optimistically, 
despite the challenging start… Challenges brought on by 
the excise-led price increase, coupled with the greater 
demand for low-priced offers that are sadly being filled 
by illicit brands.

As with any challenge, comes opportunity and this 
year we will be entering the ultra-low price segment 
with our Fyah Grabba product which, following a pilot 
test conducted last year, was shown to be highly 
successful.  As we aim to satisfy consumer moments, 
we feel confident that this product will be embraced 
by consumers in that segment.  We will also seek to 
enhance our relevance through key partnerships and, as 
such, plans are in train to offer second category SKUs to 
our current trade partners.

A “fit for purpose” team, equipped with the required 
skill sets, having successfully completed the British 
American Tobacco-approved POSITIVE Sales Training, 
the TM&D Team continues to be the engine of 
Carreras Limited, ensuring that through dedication and 
collaboration with all key stakeholders, our wide cross-
section of product offerings are at the right places at 
the right times to satisfy our consumers whenever and 
wherever they may want them.
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Brand Marketing
In today’s business environment, marked by challenges ranging from an increase in the illicit competition 
and varied consumer choices inclusive of smoking lifestyle changes, Carreras continues to deliver strong 
business results driven by the brand power of our portfolio.  Yet again, in 2016, our brands delivered 
outstanding results anchored by strong performances on brand elements of salience, preference, relevance 
and distinction.

Our Iconic Brands
Strength and fortitude is in our 
DNA; ably embodied by our 
brand leaders, Craven “A” and 
Matterhorn. They are the drivers 
that consistently lead business 
performance in the local tobacco 
market.  We recognize this, and 
dedicate relentless effort in 
fortifying the brand equity, power 
and attractiveness of our lead SKU’s.  
We create and participate in the 
spirited moments, energies and 
celebration of our Jamaican culture. 
Music is our religion and Craven “A”, 
at Reggae Sumfest, with all its brand 
personality, shout that bold song 
aloud. 

Craven “A” Special Limited 
Edition…Innovation to Fuel 
Performance
Craven “A” Special, buoyed by 
the strength of its remarkable 
birthright, reinvigorated the Craven 
“A” brand in the delivery of superb 
results for 2016 as well as innovation 
that delivered point on point 
results. The distinct and unique 
taste profile of this rich, long lasting 
tobacco blend offered an authentic 
taste experience to the targeted 
consumer segment. Today, the 
brand has forged a close relationship 

to new adopters within the segment 
of full flavor smokers and delivered 
its brand promise to all stakeholders.

In the freshness segment, 
Matterhorn rules innovation and is 
the reference for new approaches, 
and experiences for our adult 
consumers who are thrilled and 
excited about new and electrifying 
experiences.

Exciting the Consumers 
Responsible for 
Matterhorn’s Success
In 2017, Matterhorn empowers its 
consumers with a new sensation, 
Matterhorn Mojito Vybz…TASTE 
EXPLOSION.  The first flavor capsule 
in the market was launched in 
March, bringing modernity to the 
pack and stick where consumers 
have a differentiated experience 
with a “squeeze”.

Global Drive Brands
The power, brand appeal and 
sheer essence of our premium 
International Brands are 

unmistakable.  Rothmans and 
Dunhill’s heritage and spirit 
contributed to the impressive 
performance of these brands 
despite the challenging economic 
circumstances of 2016.  Our 
consumers have forged unbreakable 
bonds with our Premium brands and 
this relationship continues to deliver 
strong business results year on year 
for our premium segment. 

Recognizing the need to satisfy 
and play in every relevant segment 
of the tobacco market, we re-
energized our consumer base with 
Pall Mall, our lead brand in the 
Low-Price Offer (LPO) segment. 
Pall Mall delivers a superior product 
experience at an affordable price.  
The brand has proven to be a 
favorite of our consumers in our 
inner-city spaces and is a major 
contributor to our strategy of 
fighting the illicit tobacco trade.  

Fyah Grabba…a New Era
As leaders of the tobacco category, 
being consumer led we embarked 
on a new venture in the grabba 
segment through a pilot test of our 
own brand Fyah Grabba.  

Meeting all the requirements for a 
successful product and a resounding 
YES from the target market, 
Fyah Grabba will be launched in 
September 2017.  

Despite a Challenging 
Environment…
Today, our grand opportunity is 
to expand our reach and provide 
discerning consumers with options 
that satisfy their brand needs at 
an affordable and competitive 
price.  Going forward into the 
future, we are confident that our 
portfolio strategy is smart, aligned 
to consumers’ forward needs and 
geared to deliver outstanding 
results.
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The Regulatory Environment

Tougher tobacco control regulations remain a going concern for the Company, particularly the threat of 
unbalanced and impractical regulations that we observe being promulgated in several countries across 
the world. Some of these unbalanced regulations include measures such as plain packaging, ingredients 
restrictions and total advertising and promotions bans which infringe on several rights of the legitimate 
tobacco industry, including the right to communicate with its adult consumers, the right to the use of its 
trademarks and copyrights, and in several respects, its commercial rights as a legitimate corporate entity. 

Monitoring our local regulatory environment and 
proactively engaging key stakeholders, including the 
Government, on the need for balanced regulations, 
therefore remained a top priority during 2016. Having 
been aware of the Government’s contemplation 
to implement tougher regulations, which among 
other things include an advertising, promotions and 
sponsorships ban, we continued to engage in ensuring 
that such measures are fair and practical, as well as, we 
continued our extensive internal preparations for any 
such eventuality. In this regard, we also continued to 
ensure that all our activities during the year were fully 
compliant with our own internal marketing guidelines as 
well as the Public Health Tobacco Control Regulations 
that dictate among other things, a ban on smoking in 
indoor public places and the requirement for a graphic 
health warning on all cigarette packaging.  

Tobacco Excise
Shareholders would have been aware of a recent $3 
increase in the Special Consumption Tax (SCT) on 
cigarettes which was effected on March 13, 2017, 
bringing the total excise rate to $17 per stick of 
cigarette. This was a dramatic increase and we are now 

seeing where it has further exacerbated the issue of a 
contracting legal market and a growing illegal cigarette 
trade that only serves the interest and pockets of the 
unscrupulous players, while robbing the Government 
and the Company of its revenues. We noted with grave 
concern, the call by the major global and regional 
health organizations such as the Pan American Health 
Organisation (PAHO) and the World Health Organization 
(WHO), for the Government to implement greater 
levels of excise increases as part of a more robust and 
comprehensive tobacco control agenda. 

It was therefore critical for us to continue reinforcing to 
the Government, that the perspective that the demand 
for tobacco products will be stemmed by higher prices 
from heavy taxation is an erroneous one, as the reality 
is such that when prices are too high in comparison 
with the available income and what people are willing 
to pay, the opportunity and incentive for the illicit 
trade in cigarettes increases. We also emphasized to 
the Government, that heavy taxation and the resultant 
effect of a thriving illicit trade in cigarettes significantly 
stymie efforts of tobacco control regulations, including 
preventing youth access to cigarettes, pack health 
warning requirements, as well as the quality of the illicit 
products cannot be verified.

The Company therefore continues to urge the Minister 
of Finance and the Government all told, that in any 
evaluation and contemplation of further increases 
in tobacco excise, to consider the growing negative 
consequences of the ongoing transfer of volumes from 
the legal to the illegal trade due to affordability issues 
stemming from the hikes in excise, which no doubt 
redound to the detriment of the Government’s tax 
collection and regulation efforts.

We also continue to express our willingness to work 
with the Government in crafting a sustainable excise 
strategy going forward. 

BAT’s International Marketing Principles which guide the way we 
market and distribute our brands responsibly.
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The Illicit Trade

During the year in review, the Company continued to 
express its deepening concern for the influx of illicit 
cigarettes within the Jamaican market, and we have 
noted the continued efforts of the Government and 
the relevant enforcement agencies- in particular, the 
Counter Terrorism and Organized Crime Investigation 
Branch, to stamp-out the illegal trade in cigarette 
products, which in 2016, accounted for almost 20% 
of the total cigarette market in Jamaica.  Whilst we 
recognized and acknowledged the finds made of illegal 
cigarettes, including counterfeit Craven A cigarettes 
throughout the year, the truth is that these illegal 
cigarettes are seemingly entering the country unabated. 
As such, we continued to implore the Government 
to increase its port and border monitoring and 
surveillance, as well as implement stronger mechanisms 
to detect illegal cigarettes coming into the island. We 
also continued to emphasize to the Jamaica Customs 

Department, the need to leverage above market 
synergies among customs and law enforcement officials 
in the region with a view to tackling the transnational 
aspect of the illicit cigarette trade and provide 
opportunities to seize the illicit products before they 
even reach Jamaica’s ports.

The Company also continued to point out to the 
Government, the reality that after years of successive 
and excessive levels of increase in tobacco excise, with 
the most recent dramatic increase being effected in 
March 2017, there has been an exponential increase in 
the presence of illegal cigarettes and a dramatic decline 
in legal cigarette volumes. In addition to engaging with 
the Government on crafting a more sustainable tobacco 
excise strategy and proposed solutions to fight the 
illicit trade, the Company continued a mass media public 
education campaign on identifying illegal cigarettes 
and the illegality and consequences of purchasing illicit 
cigarettes.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

For over 55 years, Carreras has been a responsible and active participant in Jamaica’s efforts to grow and 
develop. The organization’s support for various economic, social and cultural initiatives has not wavered. 
We believe that we share a special bond with and responsibility for the country’s success as the first 
manufacturing plant that was established after independence.  

This year, as in the past, we enthusiastically contributed to the empowerment of many individuals, in terms 
of their economic and education objectives and the general enhancement of civic life. 

Economic Empowerment 

Employment
Improvement often begins at the local level and this 
focus is what fuels Carreras’ economic empowerment 
strategy, part of which is rooted in employment.  
Employment can rapidly alter an individual and an entire 
community for the better and this belief underpins 
the Company’s  bike sales representative employment 
programme. Many of these individuals are economically 
disenfranchised and providing them with a job is 
sometimes their first step on the path to economic 
recovery. 

We have embraced these Sales Representatives as 
economic partners and made every effort to integrate 
them into the mainstream of the Company.  We hope 
that by working for Carreras they can discover long-
term pathways to improving their lives and their 
communities. 

Providing Housing to the Indigent 
As part of our commitment to giving back to the 
communities in which we operate, during the year we 
partnered with Food for the Poor in building homes for 
two families in dire need. As part of this initiative, our 

employees got the opportunity to play a direct role in 
the construction of the homes through our “Volunteers 
for Jamaica” staff volunteerism programme. 

Education 
Since the 1960s, Carreras has offered tertiary education 
scholarships, especially the prestigious Postgraduate 
scholarship. The value of awards range from J$50,000 
to J$2 million. Students are selected based on both 
academic excellence and verifiable need. Through the 
programme, we hope to retain high ability citizens in 
Jamaica.  In 2016/17, we awarded over 40 scholarships, 
nine of which were awarded for the first time: 
three SEEK (Striving for Excellence and Empowering 
Knowledge) scholarships valued at $1 million each and 
six Hope Scholarships, given to children of slain police 
officers in an effort to alleviate the financial burden 
often associated with the loss of a parent.  Carreras 
recognizes that there exists a lot of unharnessed talent 
in Jamaica and sees itself as an integral player in the fight 
for Jamaicans to be given the opportunity to realize 
their maximum potential. In keeping with this mandate, 
the Company decided to expand its scholarship 
portfolio with the introduction of these new offers 
during the 2016/17 academic year. Such interventions 
we believe, provide a solid platform for the building of a 
better future.
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We are confident that, in general, the scholarship 
programme not only increases access to tertiary 
education but also facilitates a less financially stressful 
environment that is more conducive to students 
achieving their true potential. 

“Our Road safety campaign, in association with the Jamaica 
Gasoline Retailers Association”.

Civic Life 

Empowering through education and economic 
assistance is not Carreras’ only goal. We have continued 
a legacy of contribution to civic life through the 
support of road safety, crime prevention initiatives, 
the arts and several other programmes focused on 
increasing the quality of life of Jamaicans from various 
walks of life. 

Carreras is invested in and committed to encouraging 
the country’s growth and development and in the 
fostering of a safe, multi-faceted, enjoyable and 
intellectually stimulating lifestyle.
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Human Resources

Engage:
A fundamental business driver in 
any organization is an engaged 
workforce. At the start of 2016, 
our “fit for purpose” model was 
defined and a new Route to 
Market Organizational Design 
(OD) implemented. One of the 
major areas of focus of the Human 
Resources Department, was to 
ensure that during the stabilization 
process, we utilized our 
engagement drivers to ensure a fully 
engaged team. Building employee 
affinity and commitment was key 
from the beginning to increase 
discretionary efforts, enhance 
productivity and strengthen staff 
morale. 

A new OD model with a net positive 
staff complement provided a 
healthy mix of seasoned and new 
employees.  Creating synergies 
from such a mix could take an 
extended period without a 
proper engagement strategy. A 
rigorous calendar with employee 
welfare being at the forefront 
of our activities was embarked 
upon along with the right mix of 
learning & development as well 
as rewards & recognition. Our 
Leadership core helped to facilitate 
the change required by creating a 
forum of feedback through open 
communication and encouraging 
a culture of personal ownership. 
Creating the right conditions 
which enabled leaders to emerge, 
helped us to achieve success in our 
engagement strategy.  

Align:
Identifying and aligning the skills, 
values and experiences of our team 
to the future business vision and 
priorities will ensure the successful 
development of a strong leadership 
pipeline. Our leaders were tasked 
with leading this change across 
the business by building leadership 
capabilities in the organization to 
drive business performance. This 
is based on our long-term culture 

to develop talent from within by 
investing in our leaders. As such, 
our Strategic Leadership Agenda 
was revamped to refocus and align 
our leaders on a shared mission 
and vision from a “Going Beyond” 
platform to a “OneTeam” focus of 
alignment, passion and teamwork. 
Recognizing that teams provide an 
opportunity for greater integration, 
coordination and alignment. This 
new strategic agenda will be 
the blueprint followed through 
the various functional and cross-
functional line of sight, for 
achievement of the key strategic 
initiatives for our 2020 goals and 
priorities. Carreras continues to 
support this strong leadership 
pipeline with three of our local 
talent currently on International 
Assignment in Trinidad and Costa 
Rica.

Empower:
Reimaging our focus from an 
operational emphasis to a strategic 
perspective was also required 
due to the accelerated pace of 
change in artificial intelligence 
and automation.  Our continuous 
ambition to establish a globally 
integrated enterprise in keeping 
with these advanced technological 
changes has birthed “Project 
Aurora” – the Human Resource 
adaptation of British American 
Tobacco (BAT) integrated 
enterprising system called OneSAP. 
The availability, ease of access and 
simplification of our ways of work 
have empowered our employees and 
managers to collaborate, improve 
data accuracy through ownership 
and take more responsibility for 
their jobs and development through 
automated platforms and smart 
applications. Hence, increasing 
employee satisfaction and 
productivity through greater self-
sufficiency and empowerment.

Talent Promotion 
In keeping with our objective 
of attracting, developing and 
retaining talent that will ensure 
global leadership and organizational 
effectiveness, the following talent 
changes took place during the year: 
Ms. Camille Robinson to the position 
of Marketing Deployment Manager, 
and Rohan Campbell and Andre 
Pryce seconded to our Area Office 
in Costa Rica.

Camille Robinson

Rohan Campbell

 Andre Pryce 
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Growth Through 
Diversity:

Lots of Companies today are making 
diversity a big priority and BAT is 
no exception. Diversity matters 
to us because it makes good 
commercial sense – having a diverse 
workforce means we are better 
able to understand and meet the 
needs of our consumers.  While the 
Group continues to recognize the 
progress we have made in terms 
of nationality diversity, they have 
recognized that more needs to be 
done regarding gender diversity, 
specific to accelerated career 
progression of female talent in the 
Group.  

However, we are pleased to note 
that here in Jamaica, five of the six 
members of the Carreras Leadership 
team are women, an indication 
that we have successfully executed 
BAT’s diversity and gender equality 
priorities through recruitment, 
succession planning and promotion.  
We are especially proud that 
this has evolved in the normal 
execution of our guiding principles, 
and not because of any undue 
effort to achieve this outcome. A 
healthy balance in the Company’s 
management core can also be 
observed, as indeed throughout the 
organization. 

2017 and Beyond: 

A Focus on Developing Talent as a 
Competitive Advantage

Our key strategic initiatives for achievement of our 
Human Resource priorities focuses on developing 
talent as a competitive advantage, under these 
three pillars:

Attract and Retain:
 Ј Improving our talent brand strategy by utilizing various talent 

engagement platforms 

 ➠ Continued use of an increased digital reach

 ➠ Engaging and partnering directly with learning institutions 

 Ј Focused career development 

 Ј Providing equal opportunities for all

Invest in Our Leaders:
 Ј Developing talent from within - stretching and supporting our 

high performing employees who deliver our strategy

 Ј Encouraging innovations by recognizing and rewarding 
positive behaviours and outcomes

 Ј Provide an evolving portfolio of functional and leadership 
programmes which drive capability enhancement of our 
people

Leadership for Change:
 Ј Diversity agenda -  supporting the talent pipeline with 

increased Caribbean representation

 Ј Full implementation of a HR Global Integrated Enterprise for 
a modern workplace

 Ј Ongoing assessment of our Organisation Design for a 
commercially fit organization
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 
 

To the Members of  
CARRERAS LIMITED 
 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 

Key Audit Matters 
 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of 
most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters.  

 

Carrying amount of trade receivables 
 

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our 
audit 

The group has a significant 
concentration of credit risk with large 
credit customers with material 
balances both individually and in 
aggregate, which account for 82% of 
trade receivables at the reporting date. 
 
Recoverability of trade receivables is 
assessed as a key audit matter as the 
carrying value may not be recoverable 
due to changes in the business and 
economic environment in which these 
specific customers operate.  There is 
judgment involved in determining the 
levels of allowance for impairment on 
these balances, because of the 
inherent uncertainty involved in 
estimating the timing and amount of 
future collections. 

Our audit procedures in response to this 
matter, included:  
 Testing manual and automated controls

over the recording of trade receivables,
collections and the ageing of invoices. 
Our testing of automated controls 
involved using our own Information 
Technology Audit specialist to test the 
design, implementation and operating 
effectiveness of automated controls. 

 Testing subsequent receipts for 
selected customer accounts. 

 Conducting discussions with the 
credit and finance officers regarding 
customers experiencing financial 
difficulties and corroborating by 
review of minutes of meetings of the 
credit committee and detailed 
receivable listings for subsequent 
periods. 

 Evaluating the adequacy of the 
group’s allowance for impairment 
recognized in respect of the trade 
receivables by assessing 
management’s assumptions. We 
also considered the adequacy of the 
group’s disclosures about the degree 
of estimation involved in arriving at 
the provision.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 
 
To the Members of  
CARRERAS LIMITED 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the annual report but does not include the 
financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.  The annual report is 
expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.  
 
When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those 
charged with governance. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the Jamaican Companies Act, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the group and the company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the company’s 
financial reporting process. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 
 
To the Members of  
CARRERAS LIMITED 
 
 

Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ report 
 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
group’s internal control. 

 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 

 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation. 

 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business activities within the group to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.  We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit.  We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONT’D) 
 
To the Members of  
CARRERAS LIMITED 
 
Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ report (continued) 
 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we 
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Group Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
Year ended March 31, 2017  

 Notes 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 

Operating revenue 3 13,509,228 11,980,138 

Cost of operating revenue 4 (  6,969,933) (  6,243,890) 

Gross operating profit  6,539,295 5,736,248 

Other operating income 5      342,922      247,635 

    6,882,217   5,983,883 

Administrative, distribution and marketing 
   expenses 6 (  1,840,028) (  2,071,221) 

Employee benefits expense 9(i)(d),9(ii)(c) (       32,300) (         9,100) 

  (  1,872,328) (  2,080,321) 

Profit before income tax  5,009,889 3,903,562 

Income tax 7(a) (  1,203,567) (     892,229) 

Profit for the year     3,806,322   3,011,333 

Other comprehensive loss 

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss: 
Change in effect of asset ceiling 9(i)(e) (     453,900) (     460,900) 
Remeasurement gain on plan assets 9(i)(e) 413,200 247,000 
Remeasurement gain on obligation 9(i)(e),9(ii)(d)        33,200 127,300 
Income tax on other comprehensive income  15(b)             344        58,004 

Other comprehensive losses, net of tax  (         7,156) (       28,596) 

Total comprehensive income for the year    3,799,166   2,982,737 

Profit attributable to: 
Non-controlling interests  89 142 
Stockholders’ interests in parent 8   3,806,233   3,011,191 

    3,806,322   3,011,333 

Total comprehensive income attributable to: 
Non-controlling interests  89 142 
Stockholders’ interests in parent    3,799,077   2,982,595 

    3,799,166   2,982,737 

Earnings per ordinary stock unit 8      784.08¢      620.30¢  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

Group Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended March 31, 2017
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Group Statement of Financial Position
March 31, 2017
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Group Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended March 31, 2017
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Group Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended March 31, 2017  

2017 2016 
 Notes $'000 $'000 
    
Cash flows from operating activities 

 Profit for the year  3,806,322 3,011,333 
 Adjustments for: 
 Depreciation 10 57,407 62,506 
 Employee benefits 15,000 (       3,000) 
 Income tax expense 7(a) 1,203,567 892,229 
 Foreign exchange gain 5 (     52,202) (     30,692) 
 (Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and 
    equipment  5 (     14,195) 2,943 
 Investment income earned 5 (   108,262) (   176,612) 

   4,907,637 3,758,707 
 Changes in: 

Accounts receivable (   163,198) 894,677 
Inventories (   251,839) (     32,307) 
Accounts payable (   338,882) (   145,506) 

Cash generated from operations 4,153,718 4,475,571 
Income tax paid (   799,497) (1,392,366) 

  Net cash provided by operating activities 3,354,221 3,083,205 

Cash flows from investing activities 
 Investment income received 107,473 179,283 
 Additions to property, plant and equipment 10 (   122,246) (     56,763) 
 Proceeds of disposal of property, plant and equipment        15,369        3,085 

  Net cash provided by investing activities           596    125,605 

Cash flows from financing activity 
 Dividends paid, being net cash used by financing activity 19 (3,446,624) (4,342,104) 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
 before effect of foreign exchange rate changes (     91,807) (1,133,294) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 52,202 30,692 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,622,147 3,724,749 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 11 2,582,542 2,622,147 
   

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Group Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31, 2017



Carreras Limited Annual Report 2017              54 

GovernanceManagement's Discussion & AnalysisFinancial Statements

11

CARRERAS LIMITED 

Company Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended March 31, 2017  

 Notes 2017 2016 
$'000 $'000 

Operating revenue  3 13,509,228 11,980,138 

Cost of operating revenue 4 (  6,969,933) (  6,243,890) 

Gross operating profit  6,539,295 5,736,248 

Other operating income  5     350,616   1,138,343 

   6,889,911 6,874,591 

Administrative, distribution and marketing  
   expenses 6 (  1,845,419) (  2,072,408) 

Employee benefits expense  9(i)(d),(ii)(c) (       32,300) (         9,100) 

Profit before income tax  5,012,192 4,793,083 

Income tax 7(d) (  1,201,832) (     917,393) 

Profit for the year     3,810,360   3,875,690 

Other comprehensive loss 

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss: 
Change in effect of asset ceiling 9(i)(e) (     453,900) (     460,900) 
Remeasurement gain on plan assets 9(i)(e) 413,200 247,000 
Remeasurement gain on obligation 9(i)(e),9(ii)(d)        33,200 127,300 
Income tax on other comprehensive income 15(b)          1,875        21,650 

Other comprehensive losses, net of tax  (         5,625) (       64,950) 

 Total comprehensive income for the year    3,804,735   3,810,740 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

Company Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended March 31, 2017
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Company Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended March 31, 2017  

  Share  Capital  
  capital Unappropriated reserves 
  (note 13)  profits  (note 14) Total 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Balances at March 31, 2015 121,360 1,760,455 22,322 1,904,137 

Profit for the year       -       3,875,690      -      3,875,690 
Remeasurement of employee benefit  
   asset and obligation, net of taxes       -       (     64,950)      -      (     64,950) 

Total comprehensive income for the year        -       3,810,740      -      3,810,740 

Dividends paid (note 19), being total 
   transactions with owners       -       (4,339,833)      -      (4,339,833) 

Balances at March 31, 2016 121,360 1,231,362 22,322 1,375,044 

Profit for the year       -       3,810,360      -      3,810,360 
Transfers       -       22,322 (22,322)      -         
Remeasurement of employee benefit  
   asset and obligation, net of taxes       -       (       5,625)      -      (       5,625) 

Total comprehensive income for the year        -       3,827,057 (22,322) 3,804,735 

Dividends paid (note 19), being total 
   transactions with owners       -       (3,446,624)      -      (3,446,624) 

Balances at March 31, 2017 121,360 1,611,795      -      1,733,155 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Company Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended March 31, 2017
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Company Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended March 31, 2017  

2017 2016 
 Notes $'000 $'000 

Cash flows from operating activities 
 Profit for the year   3,810,360 3,875,690 
 Adjustments for: 

Depreciation 10 57,407 62,506 
Employee benefits 15,000 (       3,000) 
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5 (       7,158) 2,943 
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss  (     27,248) 23,273 
Income tax expense 7(d) 1,201,832 917,393 
Investment income earned 5 (     95,340) (   165,484) 

   4,954,853 4,713,321 
Changes in: 

Accounts receivable (   163,500) 19,169 
Inventories (   251,839) (     32,307) 
Accounts payable (   384,231) (   408,161) 

Cash generated from operations 4,155,283 4,292,022 
Income tax paid (   796,183) (1,132,422) 

  Net cash provided by operating activities 3,359,100 3,159,600 

Cash flows from investing activities 
 Investment income received 94,551 168,155 
 Additions to property, plant and equipment 10 (   122,246) (     56,763) 
 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment      15,369        3,085 

  Net cash (used)/provided by investing activities (     12,326)    114,477 

Cash flows from financing activity 
 Dividends paid, being net cash used by financing activity 19 (3,446,624) (4,339,833) 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
 before effect of foreign exchange rate changes (     99,850) (1,065,756) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 27,248 (     23,273) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,011,848 3,100,877 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 11 1,939,246 2,011,848 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

Company Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31, 2017
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2017  

1. Identification and principal activity

 Carreras Limited (“the company”) is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica and is listed on the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange. It is a 50.4% subsidiary of Rothmans Holdings (Caricom) Limited, which is 
incorporated in St. Lucia. The ultimate parent company is British American Tobacco plc, incorporated in 
the United Kingdom and listed on the London Stock Exchange. The principal activities of the company 
are the marketing and distribution of cigarettes.    

The address of the principal place of business and the registered office of the company is 13A Ripon 
Road, Kingston 5, Jamaica. 

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance: 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and their interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board, and comply with the provisions of the Jamaican Companies Act. 

A summary of significant accounting policies is included in note 23. 

(b) Basis of preparation: 

The financial statements are presented on the historical cost basis. Unless otherwise stated, the 
financial statements are presented in thousands of Jamaica dollars ($’000), which is the functional 
currency of the company. 

(c) Accounting estimates and judgements: 

 The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS and the Act requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies 
and the reported amounts of, and disclosures related to, assets, liabilities, contingent assets and 
contingent liabilities at the reporting date and the income and expenses for the year then ended.  
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and/or various other 
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual amounts could differ 
from these estimates. 

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty: 

 Employee benefits [see notes 9 and 23(o)]: 

 The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income for pension and other post-employment benefits are 
determined actuarially using several assumptions. The primary assumptions used in 
determining the amounts recognised include the discount rate used to determine the present 
value of estimated future cash flows required to settle the pension and other post-
employment obligations and the expected rate of increase in medical costs for post-
employment medical benefits. 

 Any changes in these assumptions would impact the amounts recorded in the financial 
statements for these obligations. 

Notes to Financial Statements
March 31, 2017
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2017  

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (cont’d)

(c) Accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d): 

 Allowance for losses [see notes 12 and 23(p)]: 

 In determining amounts recorded for impairment losses on receivables in the financial 
statements, management makes judgements regarding indicators of impairment, that is, 
whether there are indicators that there may be a measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows from resale agreements and receivables, for example, default and adverse 
economic conditions.  Management also makes estimates of the likely estimated future cash 
flows of impaired receivables as well as the timing of such cash flows.  Historical loss 
experience is applied where indicators of impairment are not observable on individual 
significant receivables with similar characteristics, such as credit risks. 

It is reasonably possible that outcomes within the next financial year that are different from these 
assumptions could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount reflected in the financial 
statements. 

3. Operating revenue

 Operating revenue for the group and the company represents the invoiced value of products and services 
sold and includes special consumption tax aggregating $5,906,598,000 (2016: $5,122,042,000). 

4. Cost of operating revenue 

    The Group and the Company 
     2017 2016 
      $'000 $'000 

 Special consumption tax   5,906,598 5,122,042 
 Material and related costs   1,063,335 1,121,848 

     6,969,933 6,243,890 

5. Other operating income 
    The Group   The Company  

2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

 Interest income 108,262 176,612 95,340 165,484 
 Exchange gains 52,202 30,692 27,248 -        

 Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and 
 equipment 14,195 (    2,943) 7,158 (       2,943) 
 Intra-group distributions, net -       -       53,000 932,534 
 Unclaimed dividends written back (note 16) 108,435 23,615 108,435 23,615 
 Miscellaneous income   59,828   19,659   59,435      19,653 

  342,922 247,635 350,616 1,138,343 
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2017  

6. Expense by Nature: 

(a) Administrative Expenses:  
    The Group   The Company  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Staff costs 163,423 211,365 163,423 211,365 
Directors’ fees  9,945 6,419 9,945 6,419 
Depreciation 17,976 22,374 17,976 22,374 
Auditors’ remuneration 7,300 8,504 7,300 7,875 
Occupancy costs  39,759 43,977 39,759 43,977 
Transportation and travel  57,936 67,614 57,936 67,614 
Security  22,951 27,156 22,951 27,156 
Insurance  24,686 27,041 24,686 27,041 
Legal, professional and consultancy fees 55,282 60,086 54,076 60,086 
Technical and advisory fees  93,074 100,159 93,074 100,159 
Business support services  302,104 386,010 302,104 386,010 
Shared service centre  88,890 69,928 88,890 69,928 
Information technology  107,053 88,743 107,053 88,743 
Bank charges  11,447 18,487 11,408 18,487 
Public relations  36,260 37,617 36,260 37,617 
Other expenses       32,526      35,133      39,162      36,949 

  1,070,612 1,210,613 1,076,003 1,211,800 

(b) Distribution expenses: 
    The Group   The Company  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Staff costs  332,070 316,355 332,070 316,355 
Depreciation  39,431 40,132 39,431 40,132 
Occupancy costs  44,848 56,492 44,848 56,492 
Transportation and travel  100,840 89,147 100,840 89,147 
Repairs and maintenance  4,170 3,154 4,170 3,154 
Security  57,360 73,966 57,360 73,966 
Insurance  3,606 5,145 3,606 5,145 
Legal, professional and consultancy fees 18,288 13,020 18,288 13,020 
Information technology  17,402 18,493 17,402 18,493 
Restructuring costs  -      80,937 -      80,937 
Other expenses         3,597      26,440        3,597      26,440 

     621,612    723,281    621,612    723,281 

(c) Marketing expenses: 
    The Group   The Company  
 2017 2016 2017 2016 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Sponsorship 98,189 94,147 98,189 94,147 
Promotions 27,323 38,349 27,323 38,349 
Product development       22,292        4,831      22,292        4,831  

     147,804    137,327    147,804    137,327  

Total administrative, distribution and  
   marketing expenses  1,840,028 2,071,221 1,845,419 2,072,408 
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2017  

7. Income tax

The Group: 

(a) Income tax is computed at 25% of the profit for the year, as adjusted for taxation purposes, and is 
made up as follows: 

2017 2016 
$'000 $'000 

 Current: 
  Provision for charge on current year’s profit 1,235,260 1,191,341 
  Prior years’ over provision  (     21,030) (     80,822) 

  1,214,230 1,110,519 
 Deferred: 
  Origination and reversal of temporary differences 
     [note 15(b)]  (     10,663) (   218,290) 

 Income tax expense for the year 1,203,567    892,229 
 (b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate and charge: 
  2017 2016 
   $'000  $'000 

 Profit before taxation  5,009,889 3,903,562 

 Computed "expected" tax charge at 25%  1,252,472 975,891 
 Taxation difference between profit for financial 
  statements and tax reporting purposes on – 
  Depreciation and capital allowances  1,628 (       3,129) 
  Foreign exchange gains  (          352) 9,245 
 Adjustment in respect of prior years’ provision (     21,030) (     80,822) 
  Capital income  (     28,899) (            32)  
  Other adjustments  (          252) (       8,924)  

 Actual tax rate and charge  1,203,567    892,229  

 Effective tax rate      24.02%    22.86% 

 (c) At March 31, 2017, taxation losses in subsidiaries, subject to agreement by Tax Administration 
Jamaica, amounted to approximately $777,478,000 (2016: $777,545,000).  These losses may be 
carried forward indefinitely.  The amount that can be utilised in any one assessment year is 
restricted to 50% of chargeable income (before utilising any prior year losses) of that assessment 
year.

The Company: 

 (d) Income tax is computed at 25% of the profit for the year, as adjusted for taxation purposes, and is 
made up as follows: 

2017 2016 
$'000 $'000 

 Current: 
  Provision for charge on current year’s profit 1,224,844 958,854 
 Prior years’ over provision (     12,759) (     39,295) 

  1,212,085 919,559 
 Deferred: 
  Origination and reversal of temporary differences 
     [note 15(b)] (     10,253) (       2,166) 

   1,201,832    917,393
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2017  

7. Income tax (cont’d) 

 (e) Reconciliation of effective tax rate and charge: 

  2017 2016 
   $'000  $'000 

 Profit before taxation  5,012,192 4,793,083 

 Computed "expected" tax charge at 25%  1,253,048 1,198,271 
 Taxation difference between profit for financial 
  statements and tax reporting purposes on – 
  Depreciation and capital allowances  1,628 (       3,129) 
  Foreign exchange gains  (          352) 611 
  Adjustment in respect of prior years’ provision  (     12,759) (     39,295) 
  Effect of income taxed at other than standard rate  (     42,149) (   233,165) 
  Other adjustments         2,416 (       5,900)  

 Actual tax charge  1,201,832    917,393 

 Effective tax rate     23.98%    19.14% 

8. Earnings per ordinary stock unit

 Earnings per ordinary stock unit is calculated as follows: 

2017 2016 

 Profit for the year attributable to stockholders 3,806,233,000 3,011,191,000 
 Ordinary Stock units in issue 485,440,000 485,440,000 
 Earnings per stock unit          784.08¢           620.30¢ 

9. Employee benefits 

The Carreras Group Limited Superannuation Scheme (“the old scheme”) was discontinued with effect 
from  December 31, 2006 and is being wound up in accordance with the rules, applicable legislation and 
subject to the oversight of the Financial Services Commission (“FSC”).  Benefit improvements have 
been agreed for the pensioners, deferred pensioners and active members of the old scheme.   

A replacement fund, the Carreras Limited Superannuation Fund (“the new fund”) was established with 
effect from January 1, 2007.  The new fund is divided into two sections – a defined benefit (DB) section 
and a defined contribution (DC) section.  The employees who were members of the old scheme are now 
participating in the DB section of the new fund whilst the individuals employed after December 31, 
2006, are participating in the DC section of the new fund.  

The liabilities in respect of current pensioners and deferred pensioners, who opted to transfer the value 
of their pension entitlement in the old scheme to the DB section of the new fund to provide for all future 
pension payments, have been transferred to the DB section.  The liabilities in respect of the active 
members who became members of the new fund and opted to transfer the total or a part of their past 
service to the new fund have also been transferred. 
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2017  

9. Employee benefits (cont’d)

 The amounts recognised are computed as follows:  

  The Group and the Company 
  2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 

Pension benefits  (   200,800) (   168,200) 
Post employment health and group life insurance benefit     273,800    218,700 

 The amounts recognised are computed as follows: 

(i) Pension benefits:  

(a) Asset recognised in the statement of financial position:  

   The Group and the Company 
    2017 2016 
    $'000 $'000 

  Present value of funded obligations 3,205,600 3,193,100  
  Fair value of plan assets (4,925,300) (4,338,400)  

  Present value of net obligations (1,719,700) (1,145,300)  
  Unrecognised amount due to limitation 1,518,900    977,100  

  Asset recognised in statement of financial position (   200,800) (   168,200) 

(b) Movements in the net asset recognised in the statement of financial position: 

   The Group and the Company  
  2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 

 Net asset at beginning of the year (   168,200) (   260,600) 
 Contributions paid (       3,100) (       4,600) 
 Expense recognised in the statement of  
    profit or loss and other comprehensive income (     29,500)      97,000 

 Net asset at end of the year (   200,800) (   168,200) 

(c) Movements in plan assets: 
   The Group and the Company 
  2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 

  Fair value of plan assets at beginning of the year 4,338,400 3,888,000 
  Interest income on plan assets 381,100 361,800 
 Contributions paid 7,000 10,900 
 Benefits paid (   214,400) (   169,300) 
 Remeasurement gain on assets    413,200    247,000 

 Fair value of plan assets at end of the year 4,925,300 4,338,400 
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CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2017  

9. Employee benefits (cont’d)

 The amounts recognised are computed as follows (cont’d): 

(i) Pension benefits (cont’d):  

(c)  Movements in plan assets (cont’d): 
 The Group and the Company 

  2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 

Plan assets consist of the following: 
Equities 1,420,200 832,661 
Pooled pension investments 2,681,800 2,693,132 
Real property 561,900 603,573 
Resale agreements 20,000 19,476 
Corporate bonds 152,400 127,175 
Net current assets      89,000      62,383 

 4,925,300 4,338,400 

(d) Expense/(income) recognised in profit for the year: 
   The Group and the Company 
  2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 

  Current service costs 19,000 26,700 
  Interest cost on obligation 279,800 294,600 
 Interest income on assets (   381,100) (   361,800) 
 Interest on effect of asset ceiling 87,900 44,800 
 Gain on curtailment and settlements        -         (     11,600)  

          5,600 (       7,300) 

(e) Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income: 
  2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 
    

 Change in effect of asset ceiling 453,900 460,900 
 Remeasurement gain on plan assets (   413,200) (   247,000) 
 Remeasurement gain on obligation (     75,800) (   109,600) 

 (     35,100)    104,300 

(f) Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages): 

  2017 2016 
  % % 

  Discount rate  9.50 9.00 
  Future salary increases 7.50 6.50 

Future pension increases 6.00 5.50 

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on GAM 94 Tables with ages reduced by 
five years (2016: five years).   

At March 31, 2017, the weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 14 
years (2016: 14 years). 
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CARRERAS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2017  

9. Employee benefits (cont’d)

 The amounts recognised are computed as follows (cont’d): 

(i) Pension benefits (cont’d): 

(g) Sensitivity analysis of principal actuarial assumptions: 

   The Group and the Company  
  One percentage  One percentage 
   point increase    point decrease  

    2017 2016 2017 2016 
    $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Discount rate  (391,100) (390,100) 494,600 493,400 
 Salary increases 27,400 24,300 (  24,300) (  22,200) 
 Pension increases 463,300 465,500 (370,400) (371,600) 

(h) Plan assets include ordinary stock units issued by the company with a fair value of 
$254,478,000 (2016: $203,161,000).   

(ii) Post employment health and group life insurance benefits: 

(a) Liability recognised in the statement of financial position: 
The Group and the Company 

    2017 2016 
    $'000 $'000 

 Present value of future obligations, being liability 
    recognised in statement of financial position   273,800 218,700 

(b) Movements in the net liability recognised in the statement of financial position: 

The Group and the Company 
    2017 2016 
    $'000 $'000 

 Net liability at the beginning of the year 218,700 227,500 
Contributions paid  (   14,200) (    7,500) 
Expense/(income) recognised in the statement of profit or loss 

 and other comprehensive income    69,300 (    1,300) 

 Net liability at the end of the year  273,800 218,700 

(c) Expense recognised in profit for the year: 
The Group and the Company 

    2017 2016 
    $'000 $'000 

 Current service costs 7,000 7,100 
 Interest on obligation  19,700 21,700 
 Gain on curtailment and settlements       -        (  12,400) 

      26,700   16,400 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2017  

9. Employee benefits (cont’d)

 The amounts recognised are computed as follows (cont’d): 

(ii) Post employment health and group life insurance benefits (cont’d): 

(d) Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income: 

The Group and the Company 
    2017 2016 
    $'000 $'000 

 Remeasurement loss/(gain) on obligation 42,600 (17,700) 

(e) Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages): 

  2017 2016 
    % % 

   Discount rate  9.5 9.0 
   Annual increase in health-care costs       8.5      7.5 

Actuarial assumptions regarding mortality, inflation, etc., follows the same basis on those 
outlined in note 9(i)(f). 

(f) Sensitivity analysis of principal actuarial assumptions: 

   The Group and the Company  
  One percentage  One percentage 
   point increase    point decrease  

    2017 2016 2017 2016 
    $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Discount rate  (35,700) (  27,300) 45,500 34,300 
 Health-care cost increases 44,700 33,600 (35,100) (  26,700) 
 Salary increases      500        400 (     400) (       300)  

Impact on post-employment obligation of a one year increase/decrease in life expectancy: 

The post-employment obligation would increase by about $9,000,000 (2016: $6,800,000) or 
decrease by about $8,900,000 (2016: $6,800,00). 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2017  

10. Property, plant and equipment

 The Group: 
  Freehold land,  Machinery, furniture, 
  buildings and Work- equipment 
   leaseholds  in-progress and vehicles Total 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 Cost: 
  March 31, 2015 130,199   16,275 410,651 557,125 
  Additions 3,056 47,335 6,372 56,763 
  Transfers 24,299 (  62,855) 38,556 -      
  Disposals and write-offs       -             -       (  43,692) (  43,692)

  March 31, 2016 157,554        755 411,887 570,196 
  Additions 5,347 112,490 4,409 122,246 
  Transfers 16,914 (106,230) 89,316 -      
  Disposals and write-offs (    6,216)       -       (116,330) (122,546)

  March 31, 2017 173,599     7,015 389,282 569,896

 Depreciation: 
 March 31, 2015   21,270       -       287,599 308,869 
  Charge for the year 14,293       -        48,213 62,506  
  Eliminated on disposals       -             -       (  37,664) (  37,664)

 March 31, 2016   35,563       -       298,148 333,711  
  Charge for the year 16,180       -        41,227 57,407 
  Eliminated on disposals (    8,945)       -       (112,427) (121,372)

 March 31, 2017   42,798       -       226,948 269,746  

 Net book values: 
  March 31, 2017 130,801     7,015 162,334 300,150

  March 31, 2016 121,991        755 113,739 236,485 

Freehold land, buildings and leaseholds for the Group and the Company include freehold land in the 
amount of $700 (2016: $42,000). 



Carreras Limited Annual Report 2017              68 

GovernanceManagement's Discussion & AnalysisFinancial Statements

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2017

25

CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2017  

10. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d) 

 The Company: 
  Freehold land,  Machinery, 
  buildings and Work- furniture, equipment 
   leaseholds  in-progress and vehicles Total 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 Cost: 
  March 31, 2015 130,199   16,275 353,419 499,893  
  Additions 3,056 47,335 6,372 56,763 
  Transfers 24,299 (  62,855) 38,556      -       
  Disposals        -            -       (  43,692) (  43,692)  

  March 31, 2016 157,554        755 354,655 512,964  
  Additions 5,347 112,490 4,409 122,246 
  Transfers 16,914 (106,230) 89,316      -       
  Disposals (    6,216)       -       (  59,098) (  65,314)  

  March 31, 2017 173,599     7,015 389,282 569,896  

 Depreciation: 
  March 31, 2015   14,427       -       230,173 244,600  
  Charge for the year 14,293       -       48,213 62,506  
  Eliminated on disposals        -            -       (  37,664) (  37,664)  

  March 31, 2016   28,720       -       240,722 269,442  
  Charge for the year 16,180       -       41,227 57,407 
  Eliminated on disposals (    2,102)       -       (  55,001) (  57,103)  

  March 31, 2017   42,798       -       226,948 269,746  

Net book values: 
  March 31, 2017 130,801     7,015 162,334 300,150  

  March 31, 2016 128,834        755 113,933 243,522  

11. Cash and cash equivalents 

  The Group   The Company  
  2017 2016 2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Demand and call deposits 1,995,717 1,500,437 1,391,084 920,189 
 Short-term fixed deposits    586,825 1,121,710    548,162 1,091,659 

  2,582,542 2,622,147 1,939,246 2,011,848 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2017  

12. Accounts receivable
    The Group     The Company  
   2017 2016 2017 2016 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Trade accounts receivable 543,105 368,793 543,105 368,793 
 Interest and other investment income receivable 3,833 3,044 3,833 3,044 
 Prepayments 49,053 58,104 49,053 58,102 

 Other receivables and advances:  
  Related parties 8,737 18,026 9,037 18,026 

 Other      7,819     8,565     7,819     8,565  

  612,547 456,532 612,847 456,530  
 Less: Allowance for impairment losses (       555) (    8,527) (       555) (    8,527)  

  611,992 448,005 612,292 448,003  

During the year, net bad debts recognised in profit or loss aggregated $7,972,000 (2016: credit of 
$218,000) for the group and the company. 

The group and the company’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses related to 
trade and other receivables are disclosed in note 18. 

13. Share capital
2017 2016
$'000 $'000 

 Authorised: 
485,440,000 (2016: 485,440,000) ordinary shares of no par value 

Stated:
 Issued and fully paid: 
 485,440,000 (2016: 485,440,000) stock units of no par value  121,360 121,360 

14. Other reserves 

 During the year, capital reserve for the group and the company of $22,322,000 was transferred to 
unappropriated profits available for distribution. 

15. Deferred tax asset/(liability)

 (a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

The Group: 
    Assets   Liabilities   Net  
   2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Deferred tax on reserves of 
 subsidiary in liquidation -           -     (21,424) (19,893) (21,424) (19,893) 
 Accounts payable 2,374 2,543 -     -      2,374 2,543 
 Property, plant and equipment 9,873 8,716 -     -      9,873 8,716 
 Employee benefits 68,450 54,675 (50,200) (42,050) 18,250 12,625 
 Accounts receivable -           -     (  5,629) (  5,359) (  5,629) (  5,359) 
 Unrealised foreign exchange 
    gain       -           -     (  4,493) (10,688) (  4,493) (10,688) 

  80,697 65,934 (81,746) (77,990) (  1,049) (12,056) 
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15. Deferred tax asset/(liability) (cont’d)

 (a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following (cont’d): 

 The Company: 

    Assets   Liabilities   Net  
   2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Accounts payable 2,374 2,543 -     -      2,374 2,543 
 Property, plant and equipment 9,873 8,716 -     -      9,873 8,716 
 Employee benefits 68,450 54,675 (50,200) (42,050) 18,250 12,625 
 Accounts receivable -           -     (     958) (     761) (     958) (     761) 
 Unrealised foreign exchange 
    gain       -           -     (  2,154) (  7,866) (  2,154) (  7,866) 

  80,697 65,934 (53,312) (50,677) 27,385 15,257 

(b) Movements in temporary differences during the year are as follows: 

   The Group: 
   2017  
    Recognised 
  Opening Recognised in income Closing 
  balance in equity [note 7(a)] balance 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

  Deferred tax on reserves of  
  subsidiary in liquidation (19,893) (1,531) -     (21,424) 
 Accounts payable 2,543 -     (     169) 2,374 
 Property, plant and equipment 8,716 -     1,157 9,873 
 Employee benefits 12,625 1,875 3,750 18,250 
 Interest receivable (  5,359) -     (     270) (  5,629) 
 Unrealised foreign exchange gain (10,688)     -       6,195 (  4,493)  

   (12,056)    344 10,663 (  1,049)  

   2016 
    Recognised  
  Opening  Recognised in income Closing 
  balance in equity [note 7(a)] balance 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

  Deferred tax on reserves of  
  subsidiary in liquidation (  56,247) 36,354 -       (19,893) 
 Accounts payable 1,785 -      758 2,543 
 Property, plant and equipment 101 -      8,615 8,716 
 Employee benefits (    8,275) 21,650 (       750) 12,625 
 Interest receivable (220,569) -      215,210 (  5,359) 
 Unrealised foreign exchange gain (    5,145)      -      (    5,543) (10,688) 

  (288,350) 58,004 218,290 (12,056) 
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15. Deferred tax asset/(liability) (cont’d)

 (b) Movements in temporary differences during the year are as follows (cont’d): 

   The Company: 
   2017  
    Recognised 
  Opening Recognised in income Closing 
  balance in equity [note 7(d)] balance 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Accounts payable 2,543 -     (     169) 2,374 
 Property, plant and equipment 8,716 -       1,157 9,873 
 Employee benefits 12,625 1,875 3,750 18,250 
 Accounts receivable (     761) -     (     197) (     958) 
 Unrealised foreign exchange gain (  7,866)     -       5,712 (  2,154)  

  15,257 1,875 10,253 27,385  

   2016 
    Recognised 
  Opening Recognised in income Closing 
  balance in equity [note 7(d)] balance 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Accounts payable 1,785       -       758 2,543 
 Property, plant and equipment 101       -       8,615 8,716 
 Employee benefits (    8,275) 21,650 (     750) 12,625 
 Accounts receivable (    1,429)       -       668 (       761) 
 Unrealised foreign exchange gain (       741)     -       (  7,125) (    7,866) 

  (    8,559) 21,650   2,166   15,257 

(c) The group has not recognised a deferred tax asset arising in subsidiaries amounting to 
$194,370,000 (2016: $194,385,000) in respect of unutilised tax losses of subsidiaries because it is 
not probable that the subsidiaries will have sufficient taxable profits in the foreseeable future to 
realise this benefit [see note 7(c)]. 

16. Accounts payable
   The Group   The Company   

   2017 2016 2017 2016 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Trade accounts payable 49,207 78,765 49,207 78,765 
 General consumption tax payable 25,153 45,875 25,153 45,875 
 Related parties 49,989 53,818 49,989 106,817 
 Employee related 33,969 36,013 33,969 36,013 
 Unclaimed dividends* 508,588 623,403 503,342 618,617 
 Other 129,275    297,189 127,387    287,191 

  796,181 1,135,063 789,047 1,173,278 

*Article 117 of the Articles of Association provides that dividends declared after the date of adoption of 
this Article, which remain unclaimed after a period of twelve years from the date of declaration, shall be 
forfeited and revert to the Company (see also note 5). 
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17. Related party transactions and statutory disclosures

 The financial statements include the following transactions with related parties in the ordinary course of 
business: 

    The Group and the Company 
     2017 2016 
      $'000 $'000 

 Royalties   5,451 5,442 
 Purchases from related companies - cigarettes 579,521 573,671 
 Technical fees paid to ultimate parent company   93,075 100,159 
 Technical fees and business support services paid to other related company 390,995 455,938 
 IT support fees paid to other related company   104,487 79,442 
 Pension schemes: 
 Lease of motor vehicles -      616 
 Dividends paid 24,452 54,299 
 Directors’ remuneration: 
 Fees 9,945 6,419  
 Management remuneration 55,619 49,022 
 Key management personnel: 
  Short-term employee benefits   108,210 95,000
  Post-employment benefits       5,822     4,409 

 All related party transactions were undertaken in the normal course business.  

18. Financial instruments and risk management 

The group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

 Credit risk 
 Liquidity risk 
 Market risk 

This note presents information about the group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the group’s and the company’s 
management of capital. 

 The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the group’s and 
the company’s risk management framework.  Senior management has responsibility for monitoring the 
group’s risk management policies and report to delegates of the Board of Directors on its activities, on a 
monthly basis. 

 The risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management 
policies are reviewed on a regular basis and reflect changes in market conditions and the group’s 
activities. 

(i) Credit risk: 

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from a counterparty to a financial contract failing to discharge 
its obligations, and arises principally from the group’s receivables from customers, cash and 
investment securities. 
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18. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d) 

(i) Credit risk (cont’d): 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is represented by the carrying value of 
its financial assets. 

 The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. Management has established a credit policy under which each customer is analysed for 
creditworthiness prior to being offered a credit facility. Each customer is given a credit period 
which represents the maximum time allowed for having balances outstanding; these are reviewed 
monthly. Management has procedures in place to restrict customer orders if the customers have 
not cleared outstanding debts within the credit period. Customers that fail to meet the group’s 
benchmark creditworthiness may transact business with the group on a cash basis. 

 Credit risk is monitored according to each customer’s characteristics, such as whether it is an 
individual or company, its geographic location, industry, aging profile and financial history.  

The group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses 
in respect of trade receivables.

The group’s average credit period on the sale of goods is 28 days for certain established large 
(wholesale) customers and 7 days for other (retail) customers.  Trade receivables over 90 days are 
reviewed and an allowance recognised for impairment based on an estimate of amounts that would 
not be recoverable, determined by taking into consideration past default experience, current 
economic conditions and expected receipts and recoveries once impaired. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by type of 
customer was: 

 The Group and the Company  
   2017 2016

     $'000 $'000  

Wholesale customers   445,156 225,843  
Retail customers     97,949 142,950  

   543,105 368,793  

 The age of trade receivables at the reporting date was: 

   The Group and the Company  
  Gross Impairment Gross Impairment 
  2017 2017 2016 2016 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Not past due 448,310 -   338,062 -      
 Past due 7-30 days 93,794 -   21,749 -      
 Past due 31-120 days 611 (165) 8,931 (8,476)  
 More than one year        390 (390)          51 (     51)  

  543,105 (555) 368,793 (8,527)  
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18. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d) 

(i) Credit risk (cont’d): 

 The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was 
as follows: 

 The Group and the Company  
    2017 2016 

   $'000 $'000 

Balance at 1 April   8,527 8,309 
Impairment loss recognised (4,580) 2,236 
Bad debts recovered (3,392) (2,018)  

 Balance at 31 March     555 8,527 

Cash and investments 

Management has an investment policy in place and the group’s and the company’s exposure to 
credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Cash and investments are held with financial 
institutions which management considers to be sound and financially strong.  As regards securities 
purchased under resale agreements, management has a policy of obtaining collateral in the form of 
Government of Jamaica instruments.   

(ii) Market risk: 

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates, will affect the company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk. 

(a) Interest rate risk: 

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates. 

At the reporting date the interest profile of the company’s and the group’s interest-bearing 
financial instruments was: 

   The Group   The Company  
   2017 2016 2017 2016 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 Fixed rate instruments: 
  Cash and cash equivalents 2,582,542 2,622,147 1,939,246 2,011,848 
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18. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d)

(ii) Market risk (cont’d): 

(b) Foreign currency risk: 

  The group incurs foreign currency risk primarily on purchases that are denominated in a 
currency other than the Jamaica dollar.  The principal foreign currency risks of the group, 
represented by balances in the respective currencies, are as follows: 

The Group: 
   2017   2016  

   US$ GBP (£) US$ GBP (£) 
   '000 '000 '000 '000 

Cash and cash equivalents  9,194 178 6,693 178 
Related party receivables  64 -    140 -      
Related party payables (   381) (     3) (   422) (       2) 
Other payables (     36)     -   (6,689) (   516) 

Exposure, net 8,841  175 (   278) (   340) 

The Company: 
   2017   2016  

   US$ GBP (£) US$ GBP (£) 
   '000 '000 '000 '000 

Cash and cash equivalents  4,761 178 2,321 178 
Related party receivables  64 -   140 -    
Related party payables  (   381) (    3) (   422) (    2) 
Other payables (     36)     -   (   104)   -     

Exposure, net 4,408 175 1,935 176 

  Sensitivity analysis 

  Strengthening or weakening of the currencies against the Jamaica dollar would have 
increased profit or loss by the amounts shown below.  This analysis assumes that all 
other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.   

The Group: 
  2017   2016  
 Increase/(decrease) in profit Increase/(decrease) in profit 

  6% 1% 10% 1% 
  Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

US ($) 67,775 (11,296) (2,036)   339 
GBP (£)   1,658 (     276) (3,539)   590 
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18. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d)

(ii) Market risk (cont’d): 

(b) Foreign currency risk (cont’d): 

The Company: 
  2017   2016  
 Increase/(decrease) in profit Increase/(decrease) in profit 

  6% 1% 10% 1% 
  Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

US ($) 33,792 (5,632) 14,169 ( 2,362)  
GBP (£)      218 (     36)   1,832 (    305)  

  Exchange rates, in terms of Jamaica dollars, were as follows: 

 US$ £ 

At March 31, 2016:  122.0421 173.4625 
At March 31, 2017:  127.7664 157.8634 
At May 25, 2017:  129.8527 165.2943 

(iii) Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk, also referred to as funding risk, is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty 
in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments.  Liquidity problems 
may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at, or close to, its fair value.  Prudent 
liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and 
ensuring the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed facilities.  The 
group manages its liquidity risk by maintaining a substantial portion of its financial assets in 
highly liquid assets. 

 The contractual outflows as at March 31, 2017 and 2016 for trade accounts payable, General 
Consumption Tax payable, due to related parties, employee related payables, unclaimed 
dividends and other payables are represented by their carrying amounts and may require 
settlement within 12 months of the reporting date. 

(iv) Capital management: 

 The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders. The Board of Directors monitors the return 
on capital, which the group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity. 

 The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.   

 There were no changes in the group’s approach to capital management during the year. Also, the 
group is not exposed to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
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18. Financial instruments and risk management (cont’d)

(v) Fair value disclosure: 

 Due to their short term nature, the amounts reflected in the financial statements for cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, related party balances, and accounts payable are considered to 
approximate to their fair values.  Additionally, the cost of all monetary assets and liabilities has 
been appropriately adjusted to reflect estimated losses on realisation or discounts on settlement.   

19. Dividends and distributions
  2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 
 Declared and paid: 
 First quarter ended June 30, 2016 
 Ordinary - 170¢ (2015: 200¢)   825,248 970,880 
 Second quarter ended September 30, 2016: 
 Ordinary - 150¢ (2015: 120¢)   728,160 582,528 
 Special interim distribution - Nil (2015: 60¢)  -       291,264 
 Third quarter ended December 31, 2016: 
 Ordinary - 170¢ (2015: 140¢)   825,248 679,616 
 Special interim distribution - Nil (2015: 194¢)  -       941,753 
 Fourth quarter ended March 31, 2017: 
 Ordinary - 220¢ (2016: 180¢)   1,067,968    873,792 

 Total dividends to stockholders   3,446,624 4,339,833 

 Distribution to non-controlling interests, net           -               2,271 

    3,446,624 4,342,104 

20. Subsidiary companies

 The subsidiary companies, all of which are incorporated in Jamaica, are as follows: 

   Percentage of ordinary shares held by  
 Name of company Principal activity   Company   Subsidiary  
     2017 2016 2017 2016 
     % % % % 
 Cigarette Company of Jamaica Inactive (voluntary 
 Limited (In Voluntary Liquidation) liquidation in process) 99.97 99.97 -    -     
 Sans Souci Development  Dormant 100.00 100.00 -    -     
  Limited and its subsidiary,   
    Sans Souci Limited Dormant      -           -      100.00 100.00 

21. Contractual commitments

Lease commitments under operating leases at March 31, are payable as follows: 

   The Group and the Company 
   2017 2016 
   $'000 $'000 

 Within one year  37,019 38,125 
Between one year and five years    91,835   94,796 

   128,854 132,921 
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21. Contractual commitments (cont’d)

 Payments made during the year ended March 31, 2017 aggregated: 

  2017 2016 
  $'000 $'000 

 The Group and Company     39,132   41,824 

22. Tax assessment

In 2004, the company’s subsidiary, Cigarette Company of Jamaica Limited (in voluntary liquidation) 
(“CCJ”) received assessments for income tax claimed by the Commissioner of Taxpayer Audit and 
Assessment, subsequently renamed Tax Administration Jamaica (TAJ), for the years 1997 to 2002 
amounting to $5.68 billion. CCJ appealed the assessment. Whilst the appeal was in progress, CCJ paid 
an amount of $1.73 billion to TAJ.  

On March 13, 2012, after a series of judgements and appeals in lower courts, the Judicial Committee of 
the Privy Council handed down its decision dismissing the appeal of the TAJ with costs to CCJ. These 
costs have been taxed and recovered. 

On December 30, 2013, the company reached an agreement with the TAJ and the Ministry of Finance & 
Planning (“the settlement agreement”), to recover the $1.73 billion plus interest of $1.78 billion on the 
outstanding sum. During the year, an offset of $0.87 billion (2016: $2.64 billion) was issued by the TAJ 
to the company to fully extinguish TAJ’s liability to CCJ under the settlement agreement. 

23. Significant accounting policies

Certain new IFRS, interpretations of, and amendments to, existing standards which were in issue, came 
into effect for the current financial year.  That which management considered relevant to the company 
are outlined below: 

New or amended
standards

Summary of the requirements 

IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements

IAS 1, effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2016, has been amended to clarify or state the following: 

 specific single disclosures that are not material do not have to be 
presented even if they are a minimum requirement of a standard. 

 the order of notes to the financial statements is not prescribed. 
  line items on the statement of financial position and the statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income (OCI) should be 
disaggregated if this provides helpful information to users.  Line items 
can be aggregated if they are not material. 

 specific criteria is now provided for presenting subtotals on the 
statement of financial position and in the statement of profit or loss 
and OCI, with additional reconciliation requirement requirements for 
the statement of profit or  loss and OCI. 

 the presentation in the statement of OCI of items of OCI arising from 
joint ventures and associates accounted for using the equity method 
follows the IAS 1 approach of splitting items that may, or that will 
never, be reclassified to profit or loss.
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23. Significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

(a) Basis of consolidation: 

 Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the company.  Control exists when the company has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain economic benefits 
from its activities.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

The consolidated financial statements combine the financial position of the company and its 
subsidiaries as at March 31, 2017 and their results of operations and cash flows for the year then 
ended, after eliminating significant intra-group amounts. The company and its subsidiaries are 
collectively referred to in the financial statements as “the Group”. 

(b) Non-controlling interests (NCI): 

 NCI are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date 
of acquisition.  Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of 
control are accounted for as equity transactions. 

 NCI relates to a 0.03% interest in Cigarette Company of Jamaica Limited, which is in voluntary 
liquidation, and non-controlling interests are insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash comprises cash in hand and demand and call deposits with banks.  Cash equivalents are 
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-
term cash commitments, rather than for investment or other purposes.  The amounts included are 
short-term fixed deposits. 

(d) Accounts receivable: 

Trade and other receivables are measured at amortised cost, less impairment losses [see note 
23(p)]. 

 (e) Accounts payable: 

  Accounts payable are measured at amortised cost. 

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the group has a legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be estimated reliably.  If the 
effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a 
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

 (f) Inventories: 

  Inventories comprising finished products are measured at the lower of cost, determined principally 
on the weighted average cost basis, and net realisable value.  Net realisable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated selling expenses. 



81              Carreras Limited Annual Report 2017

Financial StatementsGovernance Management's Discussion & Analysis

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2017

38

CARRERAS LIMITED 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 
March 31, 2017  

23. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

 (g) Investment in subsidiaries: 

  The company’s investment in subsidiaries is measured at cost. 

(h) Related parties: 

A related party is a person or company that is related to the entity which is preparing its financial 
statements (referred to in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting entity”). 

(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that 
person: 

(a) has control or joint control over the reporting entity; 

(b) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or 

(c) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent 
of the reporting entity; 

(ii) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies: 

(a) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means 
that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). 

(b) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member). 

(c) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 

(d) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of 
the third entity. 

(e) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either 
the reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.  If the reporting entity 
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity. 

(f) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled, by a person identified in (i). 

(g) A person identified in (i)(a) has significant influence over the entity or is a member 
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 

(h) The entity or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management 
services to the entity. 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting 
entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged. 

The company has related party relationships with its ultimate parent company, British American 
Tobacco plc (BAT) and other subsidiaries and affiliates of the BAT Group, its subsidiaries, 
directors and key management personnel and companies with common directors, and its pension 
schemes. “Key management personnel” comprises the group’s leadership team which includes 
executive directors and specified senior officers. 
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23. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

 (i) Property, plant and equipment: 

 Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. 

  Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of 
replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of 
the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied in the part will flow to the 
group and its cost can be reliably measured. 

  The cost of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred.

  With the exception of freehold land and work-in-progress, on which no depreciation is provided, 
property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of such assets, at the following annual rates: 

  Buildings 1.4% to 2.5% 
  Leasehold improvements 8% to 11% 
  Machinery, furniture and equipment 3.3% to 33.3% 
  Motor vehicles 20% to 33.3% 

  The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed annually at each 
reporting date. 

(j) Income tax: 

Income tax on profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax is 
recognised in  profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in 
equity, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income. 

(i) Current income tax: 

Current income tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax 
rates enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to income tax payable in respect of 
previous years. 

(ii) Deferred income tax: 

  Deferred income tax is provided for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes.  The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates 
enacted at the reporting date. 

  A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised.

  A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the 
extent that the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 
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23. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

 (k) Foreign currencies: 

  Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the rates of exchange ruling on the dates of 
those transactions. The group’s monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
at the reporting date are translated to Jamaica dollars at the rates of exchange ruling at that date.  
Gains and losses arising from fluctuations in exchange rates are included in profit or loss. 

 (l) Revenue recognition: 

  Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable, net of returns and allowances, trade discounts, volume rebates and sales taxes. 

  Revenue is recognised in profit or loss when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred to the buyer, receipt of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and 
possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, and there is no continuing involvement with 
the goods. 

 (m) Other operating income: 

Other operating income is mainly comprised of interest income, gains on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment and refund of pension surplus.  Interest income is recognised as it accrues, 
using the effective interest method.   

(n) Leases: 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on the straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. 

(o) Employee benefits: 
   
 Employee benefits comprising pensions and other post-employment assets and obligations 

included in these financial statements have been actuarially determined by a qualified independent 
actuary, appointed by management. The appointed actuary’s report outlines the scope of the 
valuation and the actuary’s opinion. The actuarial valuations are conducted in accordance with 
IAS 19, and the financial statements reflect the group’s and the company’s post-employment 
benefits assets and obligations as computed by the actuary. In carrying out their audit, the auditors 
make use of the work of the actuary and the actuary’s report. 

(i) Pension assets: 

The company and its subsidiaries are participating employers in a pension scheme, the 
assets of which are held separately from those of the group, and remain under the full 
control of the appointed trustees. 

The group’s net obligation in respect of its defined benefit pension scheme is calculated 
by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their 
service in the current and prior periods; that value is discounted to determine the present 
value, and the fair value of any scheme assets is deducted. To the extent that the obligation 
is less than the fair value of scheme assets, the asset recognised is restricted to the 
discounted value of unconditional future benefits available to the group in the form of any 
future refunds from the scheme or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To 
calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable 
minimum funding requirements. The discount rate applied is the yield at the reporting date 
on long-term government instruments that have maturity dates approximating the terms of 
the group’s obligation. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method. 
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23. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(o) Employee benefits (cont’d): 

(i) Pension assets (cont’d): 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and 
losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if 
any, excluding interest), are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income.  The 
company determines the net interest expense/(income) on the net defined benefit 
liability/(asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 
benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit 
liability/(asset), taking into account any changes during the period as a result of 
contributions and benefit payments.  Net interest expense and other expenses related to 
defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss. 

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change 
in benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.  The company recognises gains and losses on the settlement 
of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs. 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as 
an expense in profit or loss as incurred. 

 (ii) Other post-retirement health and group life insurance benefits: 

The group provides post-retirement health care and group life insurance benefits, which 
are not entitlements, to certain of its retirees. These benefits are usually conditional upon 
the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum 
service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of 
employment, using a methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans and the 
present value of future benefits at the reporting date is shown as an obligation on the 
statement of financial position. 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in a manner similar to the defined benefit 
pension plan. 

(iii) Other employee benefits: 

Employee leave entitlements are recognised as they accrue to employees. A provision is 
made for the estimated liability for vacation and sick leave, as a result of services rendered 
by employees up to the reporting date. 

(p) Impairment: 

  The carrying amounts of the group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets’ 
recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.
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23. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

(p) Impairment (cont’d): 

  An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 
unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount: 

   The recoverable amount of investments in loans and receivables is calculated as the 
present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate inherent in the asset.  An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale 
investment is calculated by reference to its current fair value.  Receivables with a short 
duration are not discounted. 

   The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and value in 
use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For an asset that does not generate 
largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

(ii) Reversals of impairment: 

 An impairment loss in respect of receivables is reversed if the subsequent increase in 
recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised. 

 In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. 

  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

  Reversal of impairment losses is recognised in profit or loss, except for available-for-sale 
equity securities, which is recognised in other comprehensive income. 

(q) Determination of profit or loss: 

 Profit is determined as the difference between the revenues from the goods and services rendered 
and the costs and other charges incurred during the year.  Profits on transactions are taken in the 
year in which they are realised.  A transaction is realised at the moment of delivery.  Losses are 
taken in the year in which they are realised or determinable.  

 (r) Segment reporting: 

  A segment is a distinguishable component of the group that is engaged either in providing 
products (business segment), or in providing products within a particular economic environment 
(geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of 
other segments. 
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23. Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

 (r) Segment reporting (cont’d): 

  The group’s activities are limited to the distribution of cigarettes to Jamaican consumers, 
operating in a single segment  As such no additional segment information is provided. 

 (s) Financial instruments: 

 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one enterprise and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise.  For the purpose of these financial 
statements, financial assets have been determined to include cash and cash equivalents and 
accounts receivable.  Similarly, financial liabilities mainly comprise accounts payable. 

(t) Fair value: 

Definition of fair value: 

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  Market price is used to 
determine fair value where an active market exists as it is the best evidence of the fair value of a 
financial instrument.    

Determination of fair value: 

The company’s financial instruments lack an available trading market. The fair value of all 
financial instruments included in current assets and current liabilities are considered to 
approximate their carrying values, due to their short-term nature.  The fair values of amounts due 
from and due to subsidiary companies are assumed to approximate carrying values.   

 (u) Dividends and distributions: 

  Dividends and distributions are recognised in the period in which they are declared. 

24. Standards issued but not yet effective

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning 
after January 1, 2017 and early application is permitted; however, the Group has not early applied the 
following new amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements. 

New or amended
standards

Summary of the requirements 

IFRS 9, Financial 
Instruments

Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, 
this standard replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes revised 
guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and 
liabilities, including a new expected credit loss model for calculating 
impairment of financial assets and the new general hedge accounting 
requirements.  It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and 
derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39.  Although the 
permissible measurement bases for financial assets – amortised cost, fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value though 
profit or loss (FVTPL) - are similar to IAS 39, the criteria for classification 
into the appropriate measurement category are significantly different.  IFRS 
9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ 
model, which means that a loss event will no longer need to occur before an 
impairment allowance is recognised.  
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24. Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

New or amended
standards

Summary of the requirements 

IFRS 15, Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers

Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, this 
standard replaces IAS 11, Construction Contracts, IAS 18, Revenue, IFRIC 
13, Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15, Agreements for the 
Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfer of Assets from Customers 
and SIC-31 Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services.
IFRS 15 does not apply to insurance contracts, financial instruments or lease 
contracts, which fall in the scope of other IFRSs. It also does not apply if 
two companies in the same line of business exchange non-monetary assets to 
facilitate sales to other parties.  

The Company will apply a five-step model to determine when to recognise 
revenue, and at what amount. The model specifies that revenue should be 
recognised when (or as) an entity transfers control of goods or services to a 
customer at the amount to which the entity expects to be entitled. Depending 
on whether certain criteria are met, revenue is recognised at a point in time, 
when control of goods or services is transferred to the customer; or over
time, in a manner that best reflects the entity’s performance. 

There will be new qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements to 
describe the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash 
flows arising from contracts with customers.

IFRS 16, Leases Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, 
this standard eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, which 
distinguishes between on-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet 
operating leases. Instead, there is a single, on-balance sheet accounting 
model that is similar to current finance lease accounting. Entities will be 
required to bring all major leases on-balance sheet, recognising new assets 
and liabilities. The on-balance sheet liability will attract interest; the total 
lease expense will be higher in the early years of a lease even if a lease has 
fixed regular cash rentals. Optional lessee exemption will apply to short- 
term leases and for low-value items with value of US$5,000 or less. 

Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice as the lessor will 
continue to classify leases as finance and operating leases.  

Early adoption is permitted if IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers is also adopted. 
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24. Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

The group is assessing the impact that these new standards or amendments will have on its 2018, 2019 
and 2020 financial statements. 

New or amended
standards

Summary of the requirements

IAS 12, Income Taxes These amendments are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2017, and clarify the following: 
 the existence of a deductible temporary difference depends solely on a 

comparison of the carrying amount of an asset and its tax base at the end 
of the reporting period, and is not affected by possible future changes in 
the carrying amount or expected manner of recovery of the asset. 

 a deferred tax asset can be recognised if the future bottom line of the tax 
return is expected to be a loss, if certain conditions are met. 

 Future taxable profits used to establish whether a deferred tax can be 
recognised should be the amount calculated before the effect of reversing 
temporary differences. 

 An entity can assume that it will recover an asset for more than its 
carrying amount if there is sufficient evidence that it is probable that the 
entity will achieve this. 

 Deductible temporary differences related to unrealised losses should be 
assessed on a combined basis for recognition unless a tax law restricts 
the use of losses to deductions against income of a specific type. 

IAS 7, Statement of 
Cash Flows

These amendments are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2017, and require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users 
of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-
cash flows. 
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